# Louisiana State University LSU Scholarly Repository

LSU Historical Dissertations and Theses

**Graduate School** 

1996

# Szasz-Muntz Theorems for Nilpotent Lie Groups.

Darwyn C. Cook Louisiana State University and Agricultural & Mechanical College

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool\_disstheses

## **Recommended Citation**

Cook, Darwyn C., "Szasz-Muntz Theorems for Nilpotent Lie Groups." (1996). *LSU Historical Dissertations and Theses*. 6238. https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool\_disstheses/6238

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Scholarly Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Historical Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of LSU Scholarly Repository. For more information, please contact gradetd@lsu.edu.

# **INFORMATION TO USERS**

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each original is also photographed in one exposure and is included in reduced form at the back of the book.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.



A Bell & Howell Information Company 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor MI 48106-1346 USA 313/761-4700 800/521-0600

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

# SZASZ-MÜNTZ THEOREMS FOR NILPOTENT LIE GROUPS

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

The Department of Mathematics

by Darwyn C. Cook B.A., State University of New York College at Potsdam, 1990 M.A., State University of New York College at Potsdam, 1990 August 1996

# UMI Number: 9706320

UMI Microform 9706320 Copyright 1996, by UMI Company. All rights reserved.

This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

UMI 300 North Zeeb Road Ann Arbor, MI 48103

\_\_\_\_

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first and foremost like to acknowledge the support and encouragement given to me by my wife, Rose Marie Cook. It's hard to say whom the writing of a dissertation is harder on, the author or the spouse. Of course all of this would not be possible without the support of my parents, Mr. and Mrs. Darwyn L. Cook. The contribution of my dissertation supervisor, Professor Leonard F. Richardson, cannot be overestimated. The words 'Well, keep working on it' that I heard so often were actually inspiring. And for the times when I was truly stumped, his helpful hints usually cleared the way. I would also like to thank Professor Jacek Cygan for helping make sure the i's were dotted and the t's were crossed.

Finally I would like to thank my son Kevin: his struggles with counting to ten make my troubles with mathematics seem trivial.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS   | ii |
|--|----|
| ABSTRACTi  | v  |
| CHAPTER  |    |
| 1 BACKGROUND MATERIAL  | 1  |
| 1.1 Nilpotent Lie Groups   | 1  |
| 1.2 Representation Theory  | 3  |
| 1.3 Kirillov Theory  | 5  |
| 1.4 More Advanced Topics   | 8  |
| 2 SZASZ-MÜNTZ THEOREMS FOR N-DIMENSIONAL                           |    |
| EUCLIDEAN SPACE1   | 3  |
| 3 ALMOST STRONG MALCEV BASIS                                       | 4  |
| 3.1 Constructing an almost strong Malcev basis                     | 5  |
| 3.2 Calculating the unitary irreducible representations            | 4  |
| 3.3 The parameterizing representations                             | 1  |
| 4 A SZASZ-MÜNTZ THEOREM FOR MATRIX COEFFICIENTS 4                  | 7  |
| 5 MATRIX COEFFICIENTS FOR A GROUP                                  |    |
| WITH ROTATING POLARIZERS5  | 9  |
| 5.1 There is no fixed polarizer for the parameterizing functionals |    |
| in $f_{4,2}$   | 1  |
| 5.2 Laurent series for matrix coefficients                         | 3  |
| 5.3 A Szasz-Müntz theorem for $F_{4,2}$                            | 1  |
| 6 THE TRACE TRANSFORM7   | 9  |
| EFERENCES  | 3  |
| <b>TTA</b>   | 4  |

\_\_\_\_

-----

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

# ABSTRACT

The classical Szasz-Müntz theorem says that for  $f \in L^2([0,1])$  and  $\{n_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  a strictly increasing sequence of positive integers,

$$\int_{0}^{1} x^{n_{j}} f(x) dx = 0 \; \forall j \Rightarrow f = 0 \iff \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_{j}} = \infty.$$

We have generalized this theorem to compactly supported functions on  $\Re^n$  and to an interesting class of nilpotent Lie groups. On  $\Re^n$  we rephrased the condition above on an integral against a monomial as a condition on the derivative of the Fourier transform  $\hat{f}$ . For compactly supported f this transform has an entire extension to complex n-space, and these derivatives are coefficients in a Taylor series expansion of  $\hat{f}$ .

In the nilpotent Lie groups case there are several possible choices for the equivalent of a Fourier transform: the operator valued transform, the matrix coefficients for the operator transform relative to a basis of an infinite dimensional Hilbert space, and finally the trace transform. We have proven a Szasz-Müntz theorem for the matrix coefficients on groups that have a fixed polarizer for the representations in general position. For groups with flat orbits and a fixed radical for the representations in general position, we have proven a Szasz-Müntz theorem for the trace transform.

Our work here is inspired by recent work on Paley-Wiener theorems on nilpotent Lie groups. Moss [1] proved a Paley-Wiener theorem on groups with a fixed polarizer for the generic representations. Park [2] extended these results to two and three step groups. Lipsman and Rosenberg [3] have proven a Paley-Wiener theorem for the matrix coefficients on any simply connected nilpotent Lie group.

As part of the proof of the Szasz-Müntz theorem for matrix coefficients we construct a new basis in a nilpotent Lie algebra, which we call an *almost strong Malcev basis*. This new basis has many of the features of a strong Malcev basis, although it can be used to pass through subalgebras which are not ideals. Almost strong Malcev basis have the nice property that they are unique up to the original strong Malcev basis.

#### **CHAPTER 1**

# **BACKGROUND MATERIAL**

In this chapter we present, without proof, background material for nilpotent representation theory needed for this dissertation. An excellent reference for further reading on this subject is [7]. The first section deals with nilpotent Lie groups, the Campbell-Baker-Hausdorff formula (which is not peculiar to nilpotent Lie groups but has a stronger statement in this context), and Malcev bases. The second section covers topics related to representation theory such as unitary equivalence, irreducible representations and the unitary dual of a group. The third section deals with the elements of nilpotent representation theory: polarizing subalgebras, Kirillov's wonderful work on the equivalence classes of unitary, irreducible representations, and other topics related to coadjoint orbits. The third section will deal with the more specialized material germain to this paper. Topics such as matrix coefficients, the trace transform, and parameterizing representations, all of which are integral parts of this paper, will be discussed there.

# **1.1 Nilpotent Lie Groups**

We will start out with the Campbell-Baker-Hausdorff formula. So let  $\mathfrak{G}$  be a Lie group with corresponding Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . The exponential map  $exp : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{G}$  is the correspondence between tangent vectors to  $\mathfrak{G}$  and one parameter subgroups of  $\mathfrak{G}$ . The Campbell-Baker-Hausdorff formula is a formula for computing the group multiplication using the Lie algebra bracket relations:

$$exp(X)exp(Y) = exp(X + Y + \frac{1}{2}[X,Y] + \frac{1}{12}[X[X,Y]] - \frac{1}{12}[Y[X,Y]] + \ldots).$$

We will make extensive use of this formula in chapter 3 when we are computing the action of representions using right translation.

In any Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  we may define the descending central series

 $\mathfrak{g}^{(1)},\mathfrak{g}^{(2)},\mathfrak{g}^{(3)},\ldots$  by the relations:

$$\mathfrak{g}^{(1)} = \mathfrak{g}$$
$$\mathfrak{g}^{(j)} = [\mathfrak{g}^{(j-1)}, \mathfrak{g}]$$

where  $[\mathfrak{g}^{(j-1)},\mathfrak{g}]$  is taken to be the span of all the vectors of the form [X,Y] with  $X \in \mathfrak{g}^{(j-1)}$  and  $Y \in \mathfrak{g}$ . A nilpotent Lie algebra is a Lie algebra whose descending central series terminates at  $\{0\}$  after a finite number of steps. If m is the smallest number such that  $\mathfrak{g}^{(m)} \neq \{0\}$  then we call  $\mathfrak{g}$  m-step nilpotent. A nilpotent Lie group will be a group whose Lie algebra is nilpotent. It turns out that for a Lie group this is equivalent to the standard definition from group theory of a nilpotent group. Simply connected nilpotent Lie groups have the nice property that the exponential map is a diffeomorphism onto the whole group  $\mathfrak{G}$ .

An *ideal* in g is a subalgebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  such that for any  $X \in \mathfrak{h}, [X,Y] \in \mathfrak{h}$  for any  $Y \in \mathfrak{g}$ . Now let  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$  be a vector space basis for g. This basis will be called *weak Malcev* if for each  $1 \leq j \leq n$  the vector space  $\Re$ -span $\{X_1, \ldots, X_j\}$  is a subalgebra of g (Here  $\Re$ -span $\{X_1, \ldots, X_j\}$  means the real span of the vectors  $X_1, \ldots, X_j$ ). If in addition each such subalgebra is an ideal, the basis is called

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

strong Malcev. A basis X for  $\mathfrak{g}$  will be said to pass through a subalgebra  $\mathfrak{h}$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  if the first k vectors of the basis form a basis for  $\mathfrak{h}$  (where k is the dimension of  $\mathfrak{h}$ ). When talking about nilpotent Lie groups a basis is almost always taken to be at least weak Malcev. Strong Malcev bases are generally preferable to weak Malcev bases, however if one is forced to take a basis passing through a subalgebra that is not an ideal, a strong Malcev basis cannot be used. Also notice that Malcev bases are ordered bases. In chapter 3 we construct a basis, which we call almost strong Malcev, through subalgebras(not necessarily ideals) that have a lot of the merits of a strong Malcev basis including a nice multiplication that comes from the Campbell-Baker-Hausdorff formula. These basis are unique up to the choice of original strong Malcev basis.

### **1.2 Representation Theory**

Before we can talk about the Kirillov model, which is the core of nilpotent representation theory, we need some definitions. A representation  $\pi$  is a homomorphism of a group G into the space of bounded linear operators on a Hilbert space  $H_{\pi}$ .  $H_{\pi}$ is called the *modeling space* for  $\pi$ . In our case G will be a separable nilpotent Lie group and  $H_{\pi}$  will be a separable Hilbert space. A continuous representation  $\pi$  is a representation such that:

$$\|\pi(x_n)(\xi) - \pi(x)(\xi)\| \to 0$$

as  $x_n \to x$  for all  $\xi \in \mathbf{H}_{\pi}$ . The representation  $\pi$  will be called unitary if  $\pi$  is a homomorphism into  $U(\mathbf{H}_{\pi})$ , the space of unitary operators on  $\mathbf{H}_{\pi}$ .  $\mathbf{H}_{\pi}$  does not

3

have to be infinite dimensional: the characters

$$\chi_{\ell}(s) = e^{2\pi i \ell s}, \qquad \ell, s \in \Re^n$$

are (continuous) representations of  $\Re^n$  in the space of unitary operators on C, for any  $\ell$ . Here  $\ell s$  means the dot product of the vectors  $\ell, s$ . Note that if you use complex  $\ell$  you lose the unitary condition. The characters are important in the theory of inducing representations on nilpotent Lie groups, and they play a central role in Fourier transforms. This is no coincidence, as we will soon see.

Two representations  $\pi$  and  $\sigma$  on the same group G will be said to be unitarily equivalent if there is a unitary operator  $A: \mathbf{H}_{\pi} \to \mathbf{H}_{\sigma}$  such that

$$A(\pi(x)) = \sigma(x)(A), \qquad \forall x \in G.$$

The operator A is called an intertwining operator.

Let  $\pi$  be a representation on the group G acting on the space  $\mathbf{H}_{\pi}$ . A subspace K of  $\mathbf{H}_{\pi}$  is said to be *invariant* under the action of  $\pi$  if

$$\pi(x): K \to K, \qquad \forall x \in G.$$

The representation  $\pi$  is said to be *irreducible* if the only closed invariant subspaces of  $\mathbf{H}_{\pi}$  are the zero subspace or  $\mathbf{H}_{\pi}$  itself. *Reducible representations* (representations that are not irreducible) can be thought of as representations that are acting on a space that is too big for them. The dual object  $\hat{G}$  of the group G is the collection of equivalence classes, under unitary equivalence, of irreducible unitary representations on the group G. For the n-dimensional Euclidean space this collection is the collection of characters  $\{\chi_{\ell} | \ell \in \Re^n\}$ . So  $\widehat{\Re}^n \cong \Re^n$ .

From a representation theory point of view the Euclidean Fourier transform

$$\hat{f}(\ell) = \int_{\Re^n} e^{2\pi i \ell s} f(s) ds$$

is an integral over the group  $\mathfrak{G} = \mathfrak{R}^n$ . The inverse transform

$$f(s) = \int_{\Re^n} e^{-2\pi i \ell s} \hat{f}(\ell) d\ell$$

is really an integral over the dual object of  $\Re^n$ . This observation is very helpful in understanding Fourier transforms on Lie groups.

#### **1.3 Kirillov Theory**

In this section we will present a brief overview of nilpotent representation theory leading up to Kirillov's classification of  $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$  as being isomorphic to  $\mathfrak{g}^*/Ad^*(\mathfrak{G})$ . We will start with radicals and polarizing subalgebras, proceed to co-adjoint orbits, and finish up with the Kirillov model.

Let  $\ell \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  (here  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  is the linear dual of  $\mathfrak{g}$  as a vector space). The radical of  $\ell$ , denoted  $r_{\ell}$ , is the subalgebra of all vectors X such that  $\ell[X, Y] = 0$  for every Y in g. A polarizing subalgebra  $m_{\ell}$  for  $\ell$  must satisfy two properties:

1) For any  $X, Y \in m_{\ell}$ , we must have  $\ell[X, Y] = 0$ .

2)  $m_{\ell}$  must have the maximum possible dimension, among all subalgebras satisfying property 1. This dimension is  $\frac{1}{2}(\dim(\mathfrak{g}) + \dim(r_{\ell}))$ .

It is known from linear algebra that if we treat g as a vector space polarizing subspaces of g exist [11]. It is a theorem of Vergne's [6] that polarizing subalgebras of g exist as a Lie algebra.

Polarizing subalgebras are not unique. For example let  $\mathfrak{h} = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{Z, Y, X\}$ be the Heisenberg algebra, with all nonzero bracket relations generated by the condition [X, Y] = Z. Then the subalgebras spanned by the vectors  $\{Z, Y\}$  and  $\{Z, X\}$  respectively are both (abelian) polarizing subalgebras for the dual vector  $\ell = Z^*$  from the standard dual basis.

Polarizing subalgebras are important in the construction of unitary irreducible representations on a nilpotent Lie group. To see why we need to introduce the idea of inducing representations. So let  $\mathfrak{H}$  be a closed subgroup of  $\mathfrak{G}$ , and let  $\pi: \mathfrak{H} \to \mathbf{H}_{\pi}$  be a unitary representation of  $\mathfrak{H}$ . We can pump  $\pi$  up to a representation  $\sigma = Ind_{\mathfrak{H}}^{\mathfrak{G}}(\pi)$ of  $\mathfrak{G}$  by the following method:

Let dx be a Haar measure on  $\mathfrak{G}$ , and let  $\mathfrak{H} \setminus \mathfrak{G}$  denote the set of all left cosets  $\mathfrak{H}g$ . Let  $d\dot{x}$  be any right  $\mathfrak{G}$  — invariant measure on  $\mathfrak{H} \setminus \mathfrak{G}$ . We will not require that  $\mathfrak{H}$  is normal in  $\mathfrak{G}$ .

Model  $\sigma$  on the Hilbert space

$$\mathbf{H}_{\sigma} = \{f: \mathfrak{G} \to \mathbf{H}_{\pi} | f(hg) = \pi(h)f(g) \forall h \in \mathfrak{H}, \int_{\mathfrak{H} \setminus \mathfrak{G}} ||f(x)||^2 d\dot{x} < \infty \}$$

by defining  $(\sigma(x)(f))(y) = f(yx)$  for  $f \in \mathbf{H}_{\sigma}$  and  $x, y \in \mathfrak{G}$ .

**Remarks.** 1) Since  $\pi$  is unitary the map

$$\phi:\mathfrak{H} \setminus \mathfrak{G} \to \mathbf{C}$$

defined by

$$\phi(x) = \langle f(x), g(x) \rangle$$

is well defined on  $\mathfrak{H} \setminus \mathfrak{G}$  cosets. Here  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathbf{H}_{\pi}}$  is the inner product on  $\mathbf{H}_{\pi}$ . Notice that  $\langle f(hx), g(hx) \rangle = \langle \pi(h)f(x), \pi(h)g(x) \rangle = \langle f(x), g(x) \rangle$ .

2) By property 1 we may define an inner product on  $\mathbf{H}_{\sigma}$  by

$$\langle f,g\rangle = \int\limits_{\mathfrak{H}\backslash\mathfrak{G}} \langle f(x),g(x)\rangle d\dot{x}.$$

With this inner product  $H_{\sigma}$  is a Hilbert space.

Part of the Kirillov theory is that all of the irreducible unitary representations on a simply connected nilpotent Lie group are obtained up to unitary equivalence by inducing characters of subgroups. The characters arise as follows. Let  $\chi_{\ell}(x) = e^{2\pi i \ell (\log(x))}$  for  $\ell \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ . The trick is that you must induce from a polarizing subgroup M (the subgroup corresponding to a polarizing subalgebra m). The polarizing subalgebras are used because of the two properties of polarizers outlined above. The first property ensures that  $\chi_{\ell}$  will be a homomorphism on M, and hence a character. Property 2, the maximal dimension property, ensures that resulting representation will be irreducible.

Above we mentioned that polarizing subalgebras are not unique. Another part of the Kirillov theory says if you induce from two different polarizers for the same  $\ell$  the resulting representions are equivalent. For the final aspect of the Kirillov theory we need some information about co-adjoint orbits.

Define the adjoint map  $Ad: \mathfrak{G} \to \operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})$  as the derivative of inner automorphism,  $\alpha_x$ , at the identity of  $\mathfrak{G}$ . That is for each  $x \in \mathfrak{G}$  we define Ad(x) by the equation

$$exp(Ad(x)Y) = xexp(Y)x^{-1} = \alpha_x(exp(Y)).$$

The co-adjoint map is defined in terms of the adjoint map:  $Ad^*(x)$ :  $\mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{g}^*$  is defined by

$$(Ad^*(x)\ell)(Y) = \ell(Ad(x^{-1})(Y))$$

for each  $x \in \mathfrak{G}$ .

Kirillov theory says that for  $\ell, \ell' \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  the representations  $\pi_{\ell}$  and  $\pi_{\ell'}$ , induced by the characters  $\chi_{\ell}, \chi_{\ell'}$  respectively, are equivalent if and only if  $\ell$  and  $\ell'$  come from the same  $Ad^*(\mathfrak{G})$  orbit in  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Thus there exists a one to one correspondence between  $\mathfrak{G}$  and  $\mathfrak{g}^*/Ad^*(\mathfrak{G})$ . Naturally coadjoint orbits are an important topic in represention theory on nilpotent Lie groups. It's a topic we explore in more detail in the next section.

# **1.4 More Advanced Topics**

The main goal of this paper is to prove a Szasz-Müntz theorem for matrix coefficients and for the trace transform (on certain classes of nilpotent Lie groups). It is the purpose of this section to introduce matrix coefficients and the trace transform. Fix  $\ell \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ , and let  $\pi_{\ell}$  be the unitary irreducible representation corresponding to  $\ell$ , modeled in the Hilbert space  $\mathbf{H}_{\pi_{\ell}}$ . For  $f, g \in \mathbf{H}_{\pi_{\ell}}$  and for  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathfrak{G}) \cap L^1(\mathfrak{G})$ consider the bilinear map

$$B_{\varphi}(f,g) = \int_{\mathfrak{G}} \varphi(x) \langle \pi_{\ell}(x)f,g \rangle dx.$$

Since this map is linear and continuous in g, the Riesz representation theorem guarantees that there is a vector  $\pi_{\ell}(\varphi)(f) \in \mathbf{H}_{\pi_{\ell}}$  such that

$$\langle \pi_{\ell}(\varphi)(f), g \rangle = \int_{\mathfrak{G}} \varphi(x) \langle \pi_{\ell}(x)f, g \rangle dx.$$

That is  $\pi_{\ell}(\varphi): \mathbf{H}_{\pi_{\ell}} \to \mathbf{H}_{\pi_{\ell}}$  is a continuous linear operator which we will call the operator valued Fourier transform of  $\varphi$ . The inner product  $\langle \pi_{\ell}(\varphi)(f), g \rangle$  is a matrix coefficient of this transform. It is the purpose of this paper to investigate how these coefficients, and hence the transform itself, depend on  $\ell$ .

The trace transform is defined as the trace of the operator  $\pi_{\ell}(\varphi)$ . So

$$Tr(\pi_{\ell}(\varphi)) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle \pi_{\ell}(\varphi)\psi_n, \psi_n \rangle$$

where  $\psi_n$  is any orthonormal basis of  $H_{\pi_{\ell}}$ . Again it is our intent to study the behavior of the trace transform as  $\ell$  varies.

We will see that we can always model the representations  $\pi_{\ell}$  in the same Hilbert space. This will make our study of the matrix coefficients and the trace transform easier, since we do not need to change our modeling space as  $\ell$  changes, however this may be at the cost of 'nice' behavior as an example in chapter 4 points out. Before we finish up we need to investigate the co-adjoint orbits further. Define  $ad: g \times g \rightarrow g$  as the derivative of the adjoint map at the identity. So ad(X)Y is defined by the equation

$$Ad(exp(X))Y = exp(ad(X)(Y)).$$

It turns out that ad is an old friend: ad(X)(Y) = [X, Y]. The corresponding derivative of the coadjoint map is the map  $ad^* : \mathfrak{g} \times \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{g}^*$  defined by the equation

$$(ad^{*}(X)(\ell))(Y) = \ell(ad(-X)(Y)) = \ell([Y,X]).$$

With these definitions we can talk about generic orbits, jump indices, parameterizing representions, etc. Fix a strong Malcev basis  $X = \{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$  for g. Let  $g_j = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_1, \ldots, X_j\}$ . The basis X is a Jordan-Hölder basis for the action of Ad. That is for each j and  $X \in \mathfrak{g}$  we have  $Ad(exp(X)(g_j) \subseteq g_j$ . Therefore  $\ell_n, \ldots, \ell_1$ is a Jordan-Hölder basis for the action of  $Ad^*$ , where  $\ell_j = X_j^*$ . That is for all  $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ and  $1 \leq j \leq n$ ,  $Ad^*(exp(X))(A_j) \subseteq A_j$ , where  $A_j = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{\ell_n, \ldots, \ell_j\}$ .

So  $Ad^*$  can be defined as a quotient action on  $g^*/A_j$ . Let  $d_j(\ell)$  be the orbit dimension for the equivalence class of  $\ell$  under this action. The generic  $\ell$  are those  $\ell$ whose orbits have the maximal possible dimension  $d_j(\ell)$  for each j. A generic orbit is an  $Ad^*(\mathfrak{G})$ -orbit in  $g^*$  that contains a generic  $\ell$ . On the other hand a generic orbit is comprised of only generic  $\ell$ . The Chevalley-Rosenlicht theorem shows that the collection of generic orbits U is a Zariski-open set in  $g^*$ , and in particular it is a set of full Euclidean measure.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

For a generic  $\ell$  let  $d_j = d_j(\ell)$  ( $d_j$  is well defined by the definition of the generic  $\ell$ ). A jump index  $s_j$  is an index for which the orbit dimension increases, i.e.  $d_{s_j} = d_{s_j-1} + 1$ . The non -jump indices are the remaining indices, those indices for which the orbits do not increase in dimension.

The generic orbits, jump indices, and non-jump indices all depend on the original strong Malcev basis.

There is a nice equivalent condition for an index to be a non-jump index [7].

Lemma An index i is a non-jump index if and only if for every  $l \in U$  there is a vector  $y \in \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_1, \ldots, X_{i-1}\}$  such that  $X + Y \in r_{\ell}$ .

We have quoted this lemma specifically because we will be making extensive use of it.

Remember that for any two members  $\ell, \ell'$  of a co-adjoint orbit, their corresponding representations  $\pi_{\ell}, \pi_{\ell'}$  on  $\mathfrak{G}$  are equivalent. We want to study the operator valued transform and the trace transform which depends not on  $\ell$  but really on the equivalence class of the representation  $\pi_{\ell}$ . So for two different members of a co-adjoint orbit the actions of these transforms will be equivalent. What we need is a convenient way to choose one representative from each orbit. If we restrict ourselves to the generic orbits there is a way to do this.

Let S, T be the collection of jump and non-jump indices respectively and  $V_S = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{\ell_{s_i}|s_i \in S\}, V_T = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{\ell_{t_i}|t_i \in T\}$ . Then  $V_S$  has the same dimension as the generic orbits, and in fact for a generic orbit  $O_{\ell}$ , projection maps  $O_{\ell}$  diffeomorphically onto  $V_S$ . From this it can be seen that a convenient way to choose orbit representatives is to take members of the Zariski open set  $U \cap V_T$ .

In fact there is a parameterizing map  $\psi(\ell_T, \ell_S) : (U \cap V_T) \times V_S \to U$  such that  $\psi$  is rational in  $\ell_T$  and for fixed  $\ell_T, \psi(\ell_T, \cdot)$  is a polynomial diffeomorphism onto the orbit  $O_{\ell_T}$  of  $\ell_T$ . The point  $\psi(\ell_T, \ell_S)$  is the unique point in the orbit  $O_{\ell_T}$  such that  $p(\psi(\ell_T, \ell_S)) = \ell_S$ , where p is projection onto  $V_S$ . The functionals from  $U \cap V_T$  are called the parameterizing functionals.

#### CHAPTER 2

# SZASZ-MÜNTZ THEOREMS FOR N-DIMENSIONAL EUCLIDEAN SPACE

The classical Szasz-Müntz theorem [8] for  $L^2([0, 1])$  says that the collection of monomials  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ , where  $n_k$  is a sequence of integers such that  $1 < n_1 < n_2 < \ldots$ , spans  $L^2([0, 1])$  if and only if  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_k} = \infty$ . Our goal is to prove an analogous (in an appropriate sense) theorem for  $L^2_c(\Re^n)$  and then for  $L^2_c(G)$ , where G comes from a class of simply connected nilpotent Lie groups that we shall define later. Here  $L^2_c$ means the compactly supported  $L^2$  functions on the group G. There has been a lot of work done on Szasz-Müntz theorems for continuous functions in  $[0, \infty)$ , see [4].

So the job at hand is to first state, and then prove a Szasz-Müntz theorem for  $L_c^2(\Re^n)$ . In this direction we first extend the classical Szasz-Müntz theorem to a theorem on  $L^2([0,b])$ . Throughout this section we will take b to be a positive real number, and we will make use of the following theorem from functional analysis [9]: In a Hilbert space H, the collection of vectors  $f_n$  spans H if and only if  $\langle f_n, g \rangle = 0$  for every n implies that g = 0.

Theorem 2.1. The collection of monomials  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ , for integers  $1 < n_1 < n_2 < \dots$ , spans  $L^2([0,b])$  if and only if  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_k} = \infty$ .

**Proof.** First we will show that if  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  spans  $L^2([0,b])$ , then we must have  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_k} = \infty$ . Suppose instead that  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_k} < \infty$ . Our job then, is to construct a function in  $L^2([0,b])$  that is not in the span of  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ . Since the  $\{n_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  does not satisfy the conditions of the classical Szasz-Müntz theorem we may choose a function f in  $L^2([0,1])$  such that f is nonzero, and

$$0 = \int_{[0,1]} x^{n_k} f(x) dx$$

for every  $\mathbf{k} = 1, 2, \dots$ 

Now define the function g on [0, b] by  $g(x) = f(\frac{x}{b})$ . We will show that although g is nonzero, the integral of g against any of the monomials  $x^{n_k}$  is zero, and hence g is not in the span of the  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ .

By the definition of g, for each k we have:

$$\int_{[0,b]} x^{n_k} g(x) dx = b \int_{[0,1]} (bu)^{n_k} g(bu) du \text{ where } u = bx$$

$$= b^{n_k+1} \int_{[0,1]} u^{n_k} f(u) du$$

$$= 0.$$

So the monomials  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  cannot span  $L^2([0,b])$ .

Now we will work on the other direction. Assume that  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_k} = \infty$ , we must show that  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  spans  $L^2([0, b])$ . Choose  $f \in L^2([0, b])$ , and suppose that

$$0 = \int_{[0,b]} x^{n_k} f(x) dx$$

for every k = 1, 2, ...

We will show that this can happen only if f = 0, by making use of the Szasz-Müntz theorem for  $L^2([0, 1])$ . In that direction define the function  $f_*$  on [0, 1] by We will show that this can happen only if f = 0, by making use of the Szasz $f_b(x)$ Müntz theorem for  $L^2([0, 1])$ . In that direction define the function  $f_b$  on [0, 1] by  $f_b(x) = f(bx)$ . Next we change variables:

$$0 = \int_{[0,b]} x^{n_k} f(x) dx$$
  
=  $b \int_{[0,1]} (bx)^{n_k} f_b(x) dx$   
=  $b^{n_k+1} \int_{[0,1]} x^{n_k} f_b(x) dx$ 

Now we may apply the classical Szasz-Müntz theorem for  $L^2([0,1])$  to the function  $f_b$ , and by the above argument we conclude that  $f_b = 0$ . It follows from the definition of  $f_b$  that f = 0 as desired.

Now that we have a Szasz-Müntz theorem for  $L^2([0,b])$  the next step in the process is to prove a version of the classical Szasz-Müntz theorem for  $L^2([-b,b])$ . It turns out that  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_k} = \infty$  is not a sufficient condition for the monomials  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  to have their closed linear span be all of  $L^2([-b,b])$ . For example consider the sequence  $n_k = 2k$ ,  $k = 1, 2, \ldots$  This sequence satisfies the conditions of the classical Szasz-Müntz theorem, and yet any linear combination of the monomials  $\{x^{2k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  will be an even function. So it would be impossible for an odd function on the interval [-b,b] to be in their closed linear span. In order to avoid this situation we place a stronger condition on the the powers  $\{n_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ .

Definition 2.2. A Szasz-Müntz sequence is a sequence of integers  $1 < n_1 < n_2 < \dots$  such that  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_{e_k}} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_{o_k}} = \infty$ . Here  $\{n_{e_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\{n_{o_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  are the subsequences of even and odd terms of  $\{n_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  respectively.

15

Notice that the sequence of terms  $n_k = 2k$ , k = 1, 2, ..., does not satisfy this definition.

With this definition in hand we are able to prove the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.3.** The collection of monomials  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  spans  $L^2([-b,b])$  if and only if  $\{n_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is a Szasz-Müntz sequence.

**Proof.** First we will show that if the monomials  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  span  $L^2([-b,b])$  then  $\{n_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is as a Szasz-Müntz sequence. In fact what we will show is that if  $\{n_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is not a Szasz-Müntz sequence, then the monomials  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  cannot span  $L^2([-b,b])$ .

Assume, for instance, that  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_{e_k}} < \infty$ . By theorem 2.1, we may choose an  $f \in L^2([0, b])$  such that f is nonzero, and

$$\int_{[0,b]} x^{n_k} f(x) = 0$$

for every k. Now extend f evenly to the function g on [-b, b]. That is define g in terms of f as

$$g(x) = \begin{cases} f(x), & \text{if } x \ge 0; \\ f(-x), & \text{if } x \le 0. \end{cases}$$

Then  $g \in L^2([-b,b])$ , g is nonzero, and for the even  $n_k$  we have

$$\int_{[-b,b]} x^{n_k} g(x) dx = \int_{[-b,0]} x^{n_k} g(x) dx + \int_{[0,b]} x^{n_k} g(x) dx$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

$$= \int_{[0,b]} (-x)^{nk} g(-x) dx + \int_{[0,b]} x^{n_k} g(x) dx$$
  
=  $2 \int_{[0,b]} x^{n_k} f(x) dx$   
= 0

by a change of variables, and the definition of f. On the other hand for the odd  $n_k$ we have

$$\int x^{n_k} g(x) dx = \int x^{n_k} g(x) dx + \int x^{n_k} g(x) dx$$

$$= \int (-x)^{n_k} g(-x) dx + \int x^{n_k} g(x) dx$$

$$= -\int x^{n_k} f(x) dx + \int x^{n_k} f(x) dx$$

$$= 0.$$

In either case the inner product of g with  $x^{n_k}$  is zero. So our function g is not in the span of the  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ . The case where  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n_{o_k}} < \infty$  is handled similarly.

Now let's assume that the  $\{n_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is a Szasz-Müntz sequence. We want to show that the closed linear span of the  $\{x^{n_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is all of  $L^2([-b,b])$ . To do this we will show that if the inner product of a function  $f \in L^2([-b,b])$  against each of the monomials  $x^{n_k}$  is zero, then the function must be zero. So assume that

$$0 = \int_{[-b,b]} x^{n_k} f(x) dx$$

for every k.

Let  $f_1, f_2 \in L^2([0,b])$  be defined by  $f_1(x) = f(x)$  and  $f_2(x) = f(-x)$ . Then for

each k:

$$0 = \int x^{n_k} f(x) dx = \int x^{n_k} f(x) dx + \int x^{n_k} f(x) dx$$

$$= \int (-x)^{n_k} f(-x) dx + \int x^{n_k} f(x) dx$$

$$= \int (-x)^{n_k} f_2(x) dx + \int x^{n_k} f_1(x) dx$$

$$= \int [x^{n_k} f_1(x) + (-x)^{n_k} f_2(x)] dx.$$

$$= \int [0,b]$$

If  $n_k$  is even then we have

$$0 = \int_{[0,b]} x^{n_k} [f_1(x) + f_2(x)] dx,$$

otherwise if  $n_k$  is odd we have

$$0 = \int_{[0,b]} x^{n_k} [f_1(x) - f_2(x)] dx.$$

By assumption the subsequences  $\{n_{e_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\{n_{o_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  of even and odd terms of  $n_k$  are both Szasz-Müntz sequences, and so the Szasz-Müntz theorem for  $L^2([0,b])$ , says that  $f_1(x) + f_2(x) = 0$ 

$$f_1(x) - f_2(x) = 0.$$

Thus  $f_1(x) = 0$  and  $f_2(x) = 0$ , and it follows that f = 0.

We are now in a position to extend our theorem to a box  $\prod_{i=1}^{n} [-b_i, b_i]$  in ndimensional Euclidean space where  $b_i, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , are fixed positive real numbers.

**Theorem 2.4.** Let  $\mu_1(k_1), \ldots, \mu_n(k_n)$  be n sequences of positive integers such that  $1 < \mu_i(1) < \mu_i(2) < \ldots$  for every *i*. Then the collection of monomials

$$\left\{x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)}\cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)}\right\}\Big|_{(k_1,\dots,k_n)\in N^n}$$

spans  $L^2(\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i])$  if and only if each sequence  $\mu_i(k)$  is a Szasz-Müntz sequence.

**Proof.** Suppose that one of the  $\mu_i(k)$  is not a Szasz-Müntz sequence. In fact we may as well assume that i = 1. So we may choose an  $f \in L^2([-b_1, b_1])$  such that f is nonzero and

$$0 = \int_{[-b_1,b_1]} x_1^{\mu_1(k)} f(x) dx$$

for every k by theorem 2.3. Now let the function  $g \in L^2(\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i])$  be defined by

$$g(x_1,\ldots,x_n)=f(x_1)h(x_2,\ldots,x_n)$$

where  $h \in L^2(\prod_{i=2}^{n} [-b_i, b_i])$  is any nonzero function. We want to show that the inner product of g with any of the monomials  $x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)}$  is zero, i.e. that g is not in the span of these monomials. By our choice of f:

$$\int x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)} g(x_1, \dots, x_n) dx_1 \dots dx_n$$
$$\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i] = \int x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} f(x_1) dx_1 \int x_2^{\mu_2(k_2)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)} h(x_2, \dots, x_n) dx_2 \dots dx_n$$
$$\prod_{i=2}^n [-b_i, b_i] = 0$$

Therefore g cannot be in the span of the  $x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)}$ .

Now assume that each of the  $\mu_i(k)$ , k = 1, 2, ..., is a Szasz-Müntz sequence. Choose  $f \in L^2(\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i])$ . We need to show that if the inner product of f against all of the monomials  $x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)}$  is zero, then f must be zero. We will integrate f against these monomials, and then make repeated use of our one dimensional Szasz-Müntz theorem.

So assume that for each  $k_1, \ldots, k_n$ 

$$0 = \int x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)} f(x_1, \dots, x_n) dx_1 \dots dx_n$$
  

$$\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i]$$
  

$$= \int x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} \left( \int x_2^{\mu_2(k_2)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)} f(x_1, \dots, x_n) dx_2 \dots dx_n \right) dx_1$$
  

$$\prod_{i=2}^n [-b_i, b_i]$$
  

$$= \int x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} F(x_1)$$

where

$$F(x_1) = \int x_2^{\mu_2(k_2)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)} f(x_1, \dots, x_n) dx_2 \dots dx_n.$$
$$\prod_{i=2}^n [-b_i, b_i]$$

We may use Fubini in the second line since

$$f \in L^2(\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i]) \subset L^1(\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i]).$$

Notice that F has support contained in  $[-b_1, b_1]$  since f does. Also notice that F is an  $L^2$  function. In fact  $F \in L^2$  if and only if  $\hat{F} \in L^2$ . But

$$\hat{F}(s) = \int e^{2\pi i s x_1} x_2^{\mu_2(k_2)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)} f(x_1, \dots, x_n) dx_2 \dots dx_n dx_1$$
$$\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i]$$

$$= \int e^{2\pi i s x_1} h(x_1, \dots, x_n) dx_2 \dots dx_n dx_1$$
$$\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i]$$
$$= \hat{h}(s, 0, \dots, 0) \in L^2(\Re)$$

since  $h(x_1, \ldots, x_n) = x_2^{\mu_2(k_2)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)} f(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in L^2_c(\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i]).$ 

Now we may apply the one-dimensional Szasz-Müntz theorem to F. Then we must have F = 0. Now proceed inductively, peeling away an outer integral at each step. We conclude that f = 0, which is what we needed to show.

Care must be taken in formulating a theorem like the above for  $L_c^2(\Re^n)$ , since this is not a Hilbert space. In fact although we haven't said it explicitly, in theorem 2.4 when we are considering the monomials  $x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)}$ , we really mean  $x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)} \Big|_{\substack{n \\ i=1}} \sum_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i] \in L^2(\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i])$ . However for any  $f \in L_c^2(\Re^n)$  there are  $b_1, \ldots, b_n$  such that  $f \in L_c^2(\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i])$ . This remark enables us to prove the following.

**Theorem 2.5.** Let  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n$  be n sequences of strictly increasing natural numbers. For  $f \in L^2_c(\Re^n)$ , the inner product of f against all of the monomials  $x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)}$ being zero implies that f is zero if and only if each of the sequences  $\mu_i$  is a Szasz-Müntz sequence.

**Proof.** ( $\Leftarrow$ ) Given  $f \in L^2_c(\Re^n)$ , choose  $b_1, \ldots, b_n$  such that  $f \in L^2(\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i])$ . Now apply theorem 2.4.

21

 $(\Rightarrow)$  Assume that for compactly supported f,  $\int x_1^{\mu_1(k_1)} \cdots x_n^{\mu_n(k_n)} f(x) = 0$ implies that f = 0. In particular this works for all  $f \in L^2(\prod_{i=1}^n [-b_i, b_i])$  for any postive real numbers  $b_i$ . So we may apply theorem 2.4 for some fixed  $b_i$ .  $\Box$ 

We now would like to rephrase the preceding result about functions f in  $L_c^2(\Re^n)$ to a theorem on Fourier Transforms. For such f, the Paley-Wiener theorem [10] states that the Fourier Transform  $\hat{f}$  of f has an entire extension to n-dimensional complex space. In particular, all partial derivatives of  $\hat{f}$  exist, and in fact

$$\frac{\partial^{k_1+\ldots+k_n}}{\partial s_1^{k_1}\cdots\partial s_n^{k_n}}\hat{f}(s_1,\ldots,s_n) = c\int\limits_{\Re^n} x_1^{k_1}\cdots x_n^{k_n} e^{2\pi i \vec{s}\cdot\vec{x}} f(x_1,\ldots,x_n) dx_1\ldots dx_n$$
$$= c\int\limits_{\Re^n} x_1^{k_1}\cdots x_n^{k_n} h_s(x_1,\ldots,x_n) dx_1\ldots dx_n$$

where  $c = (2\pi i)^{k_1 + \ldots + k_n}$  and  $h_s(x_1, \ldots, x_n) = e^{2\pi i \vec{s} \cdot \vec{x}} f(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in L^2_c(\Re^n)$ . It follows from theorem 2.5 that if for some fixed s

$$\frac{\partial^{\mu_1(k_1)+\ldots+\mu_n(k_n)}}{\partial s_1^{\mu_1(k_1)}\cdots\partial s_n^{\mu_n(k_n)}}\hat{f}(s_1,\ldots,s_n)=0$$

for Szasz-Müntz sequences  $\mu_1(k_1), \ldots, \mu_n(k_n)$  then f = 0. These comments make up the content of following theorem.

**Theorem 2.6.** Let  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n$  be a Szasz-Müntz sequences. Suppose that  $f \in L^2_c(\Re^n)$ , and s is a fixed element of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Then

$$\frac{\partial^{\mu_1(k_1)+\ldots+\mu_n(k_n)}}{\partial s_1^{\mu_1(k_1)}\cdots\partial s_n^{\mu_n(k_n)}}\hat{f}(s_1,\ldots,s_n)=0$$

for every  $k_1, \ldots, k_n \in \mathbb{N}^n$  implies f = 0 if and only if each  $\mu_i$  is a Szasz-Müntz sequence.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

**Proof.** Here  $PW(\Re^n)$  is the image under the Fourier Transform of  $L^2_c(\Re^n)$ , in other words the  $L^2$  functions with an entire extension to  $\mathbb{C}^n$  of exponential type.

**Remark** Theorem 2.6 can be rephrased in terms of power series as follows: Suppose that  $f \in L^2_c(\Re^n)$ . Then  $\hat{f}$  has an entire extension to  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , and hence is representable by a power series

$$\hat{f}(z_1,\ldots,z_n)=\sum_{j_1,\ldots,j_n=0}^{\infty}c_{j_1,\ldots,j_n}\,z^1\cdots z^n$$

where  $c_{j_1,\ldots,j_n}$  is a constant multiple of  $\frac{\partial^{c_1+\ldots+c_n}}{\partial s_1^{c_1}\cdots\partial s_n^{c_n}}\hat{f}(0,\ldots,0)$ . Theorem 2.6 says that if  $c_{\mu_1(k_1),\ldots,\mu_n(k_n)} = 0$  for Szasz-Müntz sequences  $\mu_1,\ldots,\mu_n$ , then f = 0.

The advantage to using the coefficients from a power series is that in some cases these ideas can be extended to functions with a Laurent series. Consider the example where  $f \in L^2_c(\Re)$ .  $\hat{f}$  has an entire extension to C, so we may write  $\hat{f}$  as a power series  $\hat{f}(z) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} c_j z^j$ , where  $c_j = \frac{1}{j!} \hat{f}^{(j)}(0)$ . Therefore if  $c_{\mu(k)} = 0$  for a Szasz-Müntz sequence  $\mu$ , then f = 0.

Now consider the function  $g(z) = \hat{f}(\frac{1}{z})$ . g has a Laurent series expansion about zero:  $g(z) = \sum_{j=-\infty}^{0} d_j z^j$  where  $d_j = c_{-j}$  for  $j = 0, -1, -2, \ldots$  By the above remarks if  $d_{-\mu(k)} = 0$  for a Szasz-Müntz sequence  $\mu(k)$ , then g = 0. So in some cases we can prove a Szasz-Müntz theorem for  $\hat{f}$  composed with a rational function.

## **CHAPTER 3**

# ALMOST STRONG MALCEV BASIS

In the previous chapter we were able to prove Szasz-Müntz theorems for the compactly supported functions in  $L^2(\Re^n)$ , and for their transforms: functions of Paley-Wiener type. We would like to extend this theorem in a natural way to connected, simply connected nilpotent Lie groups. In this case the role of the Fourier Transform can be played by the trace transform or the matrix coefficients of the operator valued transform, as functions of the parameterizing functionals. In order to make this extension we will show that in certain classes of nilpotent Lie groups the equivalent of the Fourier Transform, appropriately chosen depending on the class of group being treated, has an entire extension to the complexification of the dual.

One of the goals of this chapter will be to derive a formula for the action of the generic representations on a Hilbert space. In fact what we will show is that the action of  $\pi_{\ell}$  has the form

$$(\pi_{\ell}(x)(f))(y) = e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} \alpha_{i_j}(x, y, \omega) \ell(M_j)\right)} f(\beta_{e_1}(x, y, \omega), \cdots, \beta_{e_c}(x, y, \omega))$$

where a is the dimension of a polarizer for generic  $\ell$ , c is the dimension of a crosssection for the polarizer, and the  $\omega$  are coefficients of the basis vectors  $M_j$ , for the polarizer, in terms of a fixed strong Malcev basis. What's nice about the construction is the form of the polynomials  $\alpha_{i_j}$  and  $\beta_j$ . In the first section of this chapter we will construct what we call an almost strong Malcev basis. The benefit of using an almost strong Malcev basis through our polarizer is that in most ways this basis acts like a strong Malcev basis, even though the polarizer may not be an ideal. The net effect is that the polynomials  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  that result from factoring the right translation by x above have nice triangularity conditions:

$$\alpha_{i_k}(x, y, \omega) = x_{i_k} + A_{i_k}(x_{i_k+1}, \dots, x_n, y_{e_s} \text{ with } e_s \ge i_k, \omega)$$
  
$$\beta_{e_k}(x, y, \omega) = x_{e_k} + y_{e_k} + B_{e_k}(x_{e_k+1}, \dots, x_n, y_{e_{k+1}}, \dots, y_{e_c}, \omega)$$

where A and B are polynomials in x, y and  $\omega$ . The indices  $i_k$  and  $e_k$  will be explained in the next section.

# 3.1 Constructing an almost strong Malcev basis

It turns out that the existence of an entire extension is highly dependent on the choice of polarizer and the basis through the polarizer. That brings us to the idea of an almost strong Malcev basis. In this section we will show that given a Lie algebra g and a subalgebra h we can construct a basis for g passing through h such that the basis acts like a strong Malcev basis in h and also as a basis for the cross section g/h.

Throughout this chapter  $\mathfrak{G}$  will be a connected, simply connected nilpotent Lie group with corresponding Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . We will start this section with a theorem that is useful in the construction of Malcev bases.

**Theorem 3.1.1** Let  $\mathfrak{h}$  be an m-dimensional subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , and  $W_1, \ldots, W_n$  be a weak (strong) Malcev basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Assume that  $a_1 < \ldots < a_m$  are m distinct indices

such that

$$Y_{a_i} = \sum_{j=1}^{a_i} \alpha_j^i W_j \in \mathfrak{h} \text{ where } (\alpha_{a_i}^i \neq 0).$$

Then  $Y_{a_1}, \ldots, Y_{a_m}$  is a weak(strong) Malcev basis for  $\mathfrak{h}$ .

**Remark.** In our notation, the vector  $W_1$  is the first central vector in the basis  $W_1, \ldots, W_n$ 

**Proof.** Because  $\alpha_{a_i}^i \neq 0$ , the  $Y_{a_i}$  are linearly independent. That is  $\{Y_{a_1}, \ldots, Y_{a_m}\}$  forms a vector space basis for  $\mathfrak{h}$ . It remains to check that this basis is weak(strong) Malcev. In fact it suffices to check that

$$[Y_{a_i}, Y_{a_j}] \in \Re - \operatorname{span}\{Y_{a_1}, \dots, Y_{a_d}\}$$

where d=max(min) $\{i, j\}$ . We know two things about  $[Y_{a_i}, Y_{a_j}]$ :

 $1)[Y_{a_i}, Y_{a_j}] \in \Re-\operatorname{span}\{Y_{a_1}, \ldots, Y_{a_m}\}, \text{ since } \{Y_{a_1}, \ldots, Y_{a_m}\} \text{ is a vector space}$ basis for the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{h}$ .

 $2)[Y_{a_i}, Y_{a_j}] \in \Re-\text{span}\{W_1, \ldots, W_p\}$  where  $p = \max(\min)\{a_i, a_j\}$ , since we are assuming that  $W_1, \ldots, W_n$  is a weak(strong) Malcev basis for g, and by the definition of the  $Y_{a_i}$ .

Now pick coefficients  $\gamma_k$  such that

$$[Y_{a_i}, Y_{a_j}] = \sum_{k=1}^m \gamma_k Y_{a_k}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^m \gamma_k (\sum_{s=1}^a \alpha_s^k W_s).$$

Since  $a_1 < \ldots < a_m$ , the coefficient on  $W_{a_m}$  is  $\gamma_m \alpha_{a_m}^m$ . By 2) this coefficient is zero if  $a_m > p$ , or equivalently if  $m > d = \max(\min)\{i, j\}$ . By assumption  $\alpha_{a_m}^m$ is nonzero, so we must have  $\gamma_m = 0$  if m > d. Now proceed inductively. So in the next step the coefficient on  $W_{a_{m-1}}$  is  $\gamma_{m-1}\alpha_{a_{m-1}}^{m-1}$ , and by 2) this coefficient is zero if  $a_{m-1} > p$ , or equivalently if m - 1 > d. Conclude that  $\gamma_{m-1} = 0$  if m - 1 > d. From induction we get that  $\gamma_k = 0$  if k > d. So we have

$$[Y_{a_i}, Y_{a_j}] = \sum_{k \leq d} \gamma_k Y_{a_k}$$

which is what we needed to show.

Now that we have the preliminary theorem we are ready to start constructing an almost strong Malcev basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$  through  $\mathfrak{h}$ , which we will define when the construction is done. We start with a fixed, but arbitrary, strong Malcev basis  $\{X_1,\ldots,X_n\}$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Choose a (vector space) basis  $\{M_1,\ldots,M_a\}$  of  $\mathfrak{h}$ . Until we explicitly say so we are considering this basis as a linear basis. Now choose highest weight indices  $i_1,\ldots,i_a$  such that

$$M_k = \sum_{j=1}^{i_k} \omega_j^k X_j$$

with  $\omega_{i_k}^k \neq 0$ . Since we are considering our basis as a linear basis we may assume, by rearrangement if necessary, that the collection  $\{i_1, \ldots, i_a\}$  is linearly ordered.

In fact we may assume that  $i_k < i_{k+1}$ , for if  $i_k = i_{k+1}$  we may redefine  $M_k$  as the new vector

$$\tilde{M}_{k} = \omega_{i_{k+1}}^{k+1} M_{k} - \omega_{i_{k}}^{k} M_{k+1}.$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.
The linear independence of our original basis, and the fact that  $\omega_{i_j}^j \neq 0$  for each j, ensures that our newly constructed vectors will be linearly independent. In fact by multiplying by an appropriate scalar we may assume that we have a distinct indices  $i_1 < \ldots < i_a$  such that

$$M_k = X_{i_k} + \sum_{j=1}^{i_k-1} \omega_j^k X_j.$$

Denote by I the indices  $I = \{i_1, \ldots, i_a\}$  and by  $E = \ I$  the linearly ordered set,  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_c\}$ , of indices not in I. Moss [1] calls these indices the *internal* and *external* indices respectively.

We have one final adjustment to our basis, which is handled by the following lemma.

Lemma 3.1.2. We can choose  $M_k$  so that

$$M_{k} = X_{i_{k}} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\notin I}}^{i_{k}-1} \omega_{j}^{i_{k}} X_{j} = X_{i_{k}} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\in E}}^{i_{k}-1} \omega_{j}^{i_{k}} X_{j} = X_{i_{k}} + \sum_{e_{p} < i_{k}} \omega_{e_{p}}^{i_{k}} X_{e_{p}}.$$

**Proof.** The proof is done by induction. Notice that  $M_1$  is central, and by the way  $M_1$  was chosen above we must have  $M_1 = X_1$ .

Now assume that  $M_1, \ldots, M_{k-1}$  have the form we desire. Then

$$X_{i_j} - M_j \in \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_{e_s} | e_s \in E\}$$

for j = 1, ..., k - 1, and

$$M_{k} = X_{i_{k}} + \sum_{j=1}^{i_{k}-1} \omega_{j}^{k} X_{j}$$
  
=  $X_{i_{k}} + \sum_{\substack{j=1 \ j \in I}}^{i_{k}-1} \omega_{j}^{k} X_{j} + \sum_{\substack{j=1 \ j \in E}}^{i_{k}-1} \omega_{j}^{k} X_{j}$   
=  $X_{i_{k}} + \sum_{s=1}^{k-1} \omega_{i_{s}}^{k} X_{i_{s}} + \sum_{\substack{j=1 \ j \in E}}^{i_{k}-1} \omega_{j}^{k} X_{j}$ 

$$= X_{i_k} + \sum_{s=1}^{k-1} \omega_{i_s}^k M_s + \sum_{s=1}^{k-1} \omega_{i_s}^k (X_{i_s} - M_s) + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\in E}}^{i_k-1} \omega_j^k X_j.$$

So we can take  $M_k = X_{i_k} + \sum_{s=1}^{k-1} \omega_{i_s}^k (X_{i_s} - M_s) + \sum_{j=1}^{i_k-1} \omega_j^k X_j$  without affecting the span of the  $M_k$ , and by the remark above

$$\sum_{s=1}^{k-1} \omega_{i_s}^k (X_{i_s} - M_s) + \sum_{j=1 \atop j \in E}^{i_k-1} \omega_j^k X_j \in \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_{e_s} | e_s \in E\}$$

which is what we needed.

We are now in a position to extend our basis to a weak Malcev basis of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . By theorem 3.1.1 we already know that  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a\}$  is a strong Malcev basis of  $\mathfrak{h}$ . Notice that in extending to all of  $\mathfrak{g}$  weak Malcev is the best we can do since  $\mathfrak{h}$  is not necessarily an ideal.

Theorem 3.1.3.  $B = \{M_1, \ldots, M_a, X_{e_1}, \ldots, X_{e_c}\}$  is a weak Malcev basis for g passing through  $\mathfrak{h}$ .

**Proof.** The fact that the  $i_j$  and  $e_k$  are all distinct shows that B is a vector space basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$ , since  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$  is a basis. It remains to show that the basis is weak Malcev. In fact we already know that  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a\}$  is strong Malcev, so it remains to check that

$$1)[X_{e_{j}}, X_{e_{k}}] \in \Re - \operatorname{span}\{M_{1}, \dots, M_{a}, X_{e_{1}}, \dots, X_{e_{d}}\} \text{ where } d = \max\{j, k\}$$
$$2)[X_{e_{j}}, M_{k}] \in \Re - \operatorname{span}\{M_{1}, \dots, M_{a}, X_{e_{1}}, \dots, X_{e_{j}}\}$$

We will cover both cases with the following lemma, which actually shows more than we need.

Lemma 3.1.4. Let  $V_k = \sum_{s=1}^p \nu_s X_s$  be an arbitrary vector in g with p chosen such that  $\nu_p \neq 0$ . Then

$$\begin{split} [X_{e_j}, V_k] \in \Re - \text{span} \{ M_s \text{ with } i_s \leq \min\{e_j - 1, p - 1\} = A, \\ X_{e_s} \text{ with } e_s \leq \min\{e_{j-1}, p - 1\} = A_1 \}. \end{split}$$

**Proof.** Since  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$  is a strong Malcev basis, we know that

$$[X_{e_j}, V_k] \in \Re - \operatorname{span} \{ X_s \text{ with } s \le \min\{e_j - 1, p - 1\} \}$$
$$= \Re - \operatorname{span} \{ X_s \text{ with } s \le A \}.$$
(1)

We also know that B is a linear basis of g. So we may choose coefficients  $\alpha_s, \beta_s$  so that

$$[X_{e_{j}}, V_{k}] = \sum_{s=1}^{a} \alpha_{s} M_{s} + \sum_{t=1}^{c} \beta_{t} X_{e_{t}}$$
$$= \sum_{s=1}^{a} \alpha_{s} (X_{i_{s}} + \sum_{e_{p} < i_{s}} \omega_{e_{p}}^{i_{s}} X_{e_{p}}) + \sum_{t=1}^{c} \beta_{t} X_{e_{t}}$$

Now the coefficient on  $X_{i_s}$  is  $\alpha_s$ . By 1, if  $i_s > A$  we must have  $\alpha_s = 0$ . So

$$[X_{e_j}, V_k] = \sum_{i_s \leq A} \alpha_s M_s + \sum_{t=1}^c \beta_t X_{c_t}.$$

Now for t > A, the coefficient on  $X_{e_t}$  is  $\beta_t$ . Again by 1, for such t we must have  $\beta_t = 0$ . Thus

$$[X_{e_j}, V_k] = \sum_{i_s \leq A}^a \alpha_s M_s + \sum_{e_t \leq A}^c \beta_t X_{e_t}$$
$$= \sum_{i_s \leq A}^a \alpha_s M_s + \sum_{e_t \leq A_1}^c \beta_t X_{e_t}$$

In the last line we may change A to  $A_1$  since  $e_s \le e_j - 1$  if and only if  $s \le j - 1$ . This is what we wanted to show.

We have proven the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.1.5** Let  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$  be a strong Malcev basis for the Lie algebra g. Let  $\mathfrak{h}$  be an a dimensional subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Then there exist two disjoint collections of indices  $I = \{i_1, \ldots, i_a\}$  and  $E = \{e_1, \ldots, e_c\}$  along with vectors  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a\}$ such that

1)a+c=n.

- $2)M_s = X_{i_s} + \sum_{e_p < i_s} \omega_{e_p}^{i_s} X_{e_p}.$
- 3  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a\}$  is a strong Malcev basis for  $\mathfrak{h}$ .
- 4) $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a, X_{e_1}, \ldots, X_{e_c}\}$  is a weak Malcev basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$  through  $\mathfrak{h}$ .

$$5)[X_{e_s}, X_{e_t}] \in \Re - \operatorname{span}\{M_1, \dots, M_a, X_{e_w} \text{ with } e_w \leq \min\{e_{s-1}, e_{t-1}\}\}.$$

**Definition 3.1.6.** An almost strong Malcev basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$  passing through  $\mathfrak{h}$  will be a basis satisfying the conditions of theorem 3.1.5.

**Theorem 3.1.7.** Let  $\mathfrak{h}$  be an a-dimensional subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . The almost strong Malcev basis in Definition 3.1.6 is unique up to the choice of strong Malcev basis  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$ .

**Proof.** Suppose that there are two bases  $P = \{M_1^P, \dots, M_a^P, X_{e_1}^P, \dots, X_{e_c}^P\}$  and  $Q = \{M_1^Q, \dots, M_a^Q, X_{e_1}^Q, \dots, X_{e_c}^Q\}$  satisfying the hypothesis of theorem 3.1.5.

Claim. To show that P = Q it suffices to show that the internal indices,  $I^P = \{i_1^P, \ldots, i_a^P\}, I^Q = \{i_1^Q, \ldots, i_a^Q\}$ , for these two bases are the same.

**Proof of claim.** Suppose that  $I^P = I^Q$ . By taking set theoretic complements  $E^P = E^Q$ . Therefore  $X_{e_j}^P = X_{e_j}^Q$  for j = 1, ..., c, so we may drop the superscript on these vectors. Since the internal indices are the same, by property 2 of almost strong bases  $M_k^P - M_k^Q \in \Re$ -span $\{X_{e_j} | e_j \in E\}$ . Of course we also have  $M_k^P - M_k^Q \in \mathfrak{h}$ , and by the linear independence of the vectors  $\{M_1^P, \ldots, M_a^P, X_{e_1}^P, \ldots, X_{e_c}^P\}$  we must have  $M_k^P - M_k^Q = 0$ .

The proof that  $I^P = I^Q$  proceeds by induction. So consider  $i_1^P$ ,  $i_1^Q$ . We may as well assume that  $i_1^P < i_1^Q$ . By the definition of almost strong Malcev basis,  $i_1^P < i_1^Q < i_2^Q < \ldots < i_a^Q$ . If this were true the vectors  $\{M_1^P, M_1^Q, \ldots, M_a^Q\} \subset \mathfrak{h}$  would be linearly independent, which contradicts dim $(\mathfrak{h}) = \mathfrak{a}$ . Now proceed with the induction step.

Assume that  $i_k^P = i_k^Q$  for k < j, we must show that  $i_j^P = i_j^Q$ . Suppose, for instance, that  $i_j^P < i_j^Q$ . We know that  $i_j^P > i_{j-1}^P = i_{j-1}^Q$  by the definition of almost strong Malcev basis and by the induction hypothesis. So  $i_1^Q < \ldots < i_{j-1}^Q < i_j^P <$  $i_j^Q < \ldots < i_a^Q$ . It follows from property 2 of almost strong Malcev basis that  $\{M_1^Q, \ldots, M_{j-1}^Q, M_j^P, M_j^Q, \ldots, M_a^Q\}$  are linearly independent, which is impossible since the dimension of  $\mathfrak{h}$  is a. Corollary 3.1.8. Let g be a nilpotent Lie algebra with strong Malcev basis

 $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$ . Let  $\mathfrak{h}$  be a subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$  and  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a, X_{e_1}, \ldots, X_{e_c}\}$  the almost strong Malcev basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$  through  $\mathfrak{h}$ . If a vector  $X \in \mathfrak{h}$  has the form

$$X = X_j + \sum_{e_p < j} \alpha_{e_p} X_{e_p},$$

then  $X = M_k$  for some k.

**Proof.** For each  $1 \le k \le a$  express  $M_k$  in terms of the original strong Malcev basis,

$$M_k = X_{i_k} + \sum_{e_p < i_k} \omega_{e_p}^{i_k} X_{e_p}$$

We must have  $j = i_k$  for some k, for otherwise X would be linearly independent from all of the  $M_k$ . Therefore  $X - M_k \in \mathfrak{h} \cap \Re - \operatorname{span} \{X_{e_p} | e_p \in E\} = \{0\}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Example 3.1.9.** Consider the 4-step chain algebra  $\mathfrak{k}_4$  spanned by the vectors  $\{X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4, X_5\}$  with nonzero brackets generated by the relations:

$$[X_5, X_4] = X_3$$
  
 $[X_5, X_3] = X_2$   
 $[X_5, X_2] = X_1.$ 

Let  $\mathfrak{h}$  be the three dimensional abelian subalgebra spanned by the vectors

$$\{M_1 = X_1, M_2 = X_4 + X_2 + X_1, M_3 = X_4 + X_3 - X_2 + X_1\}$$

Notice that this is not part of an almost strong Malcev basis since  $M_2$  and  $M_3$  both have highest weight index 4. The almost strong Malcev basis for g through  $\mathfrak{h}$  is

$$\{\tilde{M}_1, \tilde{M}_2, \tilde{M}_3, X_{e_1}, X_{e_2}\} = \{X_1, X_3 - 2X_2, X_4 + X_2, X_2, X_5\}$$

with internal indices  $I = \{1, 3, 4\}$  and external indices  $E = \{2, 5\}$ .

#### 3.2 Calculating the unitary irreducible representations

Now that we have almost strong Malcev bases we would like to calculate the action of a unitary irreducible representation induced from a polarizing subalgebra in these bases. In this section we will show that the action of such a representation has the form outlined in the beginning of this chapter.

So fix  $\ell = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \ell_j X_j^* \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ , a polarizer *m* for  $\ell$ , and let M = exp(m), the Lie subgroup of  $\mathfrak{G}$  corresponding to *m*. Then  $\pi_\ell$  acts on the Hilbert space  $H_{\pi_\ell}$  by right translation:

$$\pi_{\ell}(x)f(y)=f(yx)$$

for  $x, y \in \mathfrak{G}$ . Here  $H_{\pi_{\ell}}$  is the collection of functions f with  $|f| \in L^2(M \setminus \mathfrak{G})$  such that

$$f(ab) = \chi_{\ell}(a)f(b) = e^{2\pi i \ell (\log(a))}f(b)$$

for every  $a \in M$  and  $b \in \mathfrak{G}$ . Notice that it is sufficient to calculate  $\pi_{\ell}(x)f(y)$  for y coming from a cross-section of  $M \setminus \mathfrak{G}$ .

The calculation of  $\pi_{\ell}$  amounts to factoring an arbitrary product  $yx, x \in \mathfrak{G}$ , yin a cross section for  $M \setminus \mathfrak{G}$ , into a product  $\alpha\beta$  where  $\alpha \in M$  and  $\beta$  comes from the cross-section for  $M \setminus \mathfrak{G}$ . This calculation is made easier using an almost strong Malcev basis.

Let  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a, X_{e_1}, \ldots, X_{e_c}\}$  be the almost strong Malcev basis for g passing through m with respect to the fixed strong Malcev basis  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$ . Here

$$M_k = X_{i_k} + \sum_{e_p < i_k} \omega_{e_p}^{i_k} X_{e_p}$$

as in theorem 3.1.5. We will use  $\{exp(t_{e_1}X_{e_1})\cdots exp(t_{e_c}X_{e_c})|t \in \Re^c\}$  for the crosssection of  $M \setminus \mathfrak{G}$ .

Let  $x = exp(x_1X_1) \cdots exp(x_nX_n) \in \mathfrak{G}$  and  $y = exp(y_{e_1}X_{e_1}) \cdots exp(y_{e_c}X_{e_c})$ in the cross-section. Choose the unique  $\alpha = exp(\alpha_{i_1}M_1) \cdots (\alpha_{i_a}M_a) \in M$  and  $\beta = exp(\beta_{e_1}X_{e_1}) \cdots exp(\beta_{e_c}X_{e_c})$  in the cross-section such that  $yx = \alpha\beta$ .

We need to calculate  $\alpha_{i_j}$  and  $\beta_{e_k}$  in terms of the coordinates  $x_s$  and  $y_t$ . First we calculate yx.  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$  is a strong Malcev basis, so there are polynomials  $P_j$  and  $\tilde{P}_j$  such that

$$x = exp(x_1X_1)\cdots exp(x_nX_n)$$
$$= exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^n P_j(x_j,\ldots,x_n)X_j\right)$$

and

$$y = exp(y_{e_1}X_{e_1})\cdots exp(y_{e_e}X_{e_e})$$
$$= exp\left(\sum_{k=1}^n P_k(y_{e_j} \text{ with } e_j \ge k)X_k\right)$$

where  $P_k(z_k, \ldots, z_n) = z_k + \tilde{P}_k(z_{k+1}, \ldots, z_n)$ . It is convenient to abuse notation:  $P_k(y_{e_j} \text{ with } e_j \geq k)$  is understood to have  $n - e_k + 1$  variables, with the coordinates corresponding to internal indices fixed at 0. Putting this together with the Campbell-Baker-Hausdorff formula we have

$$yx = exp\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} P_k(y_{e_j} \text{ with } e_j \ge k)X_k\right) * exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} P_j(x_j, \dots, x_n)X_j\right)$$

$$= exp\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} P_k(y_{e_j} \text{ with } e_j \ge k)X_k + \sum_{j=1}^{n} P_j(x_j, \dots, x_n)X_j + \frac{1}{2} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{n} P_k(y_{e_j} \text{ with } e_j \ge k)X_k, \sum_{j=1}^{n} P_j(x_j, \dots, x_n)X_j\right] + \dots\right)$$
$$= exp\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} p_k(x, y)X_k\right)$$

where

$$p_k(x,y) = \begin{cases} x_{i_j} + \tilde{p}_{i_j}(x_{i_j+1},\ldots,x_n,y_{e_s} \text{ with } e_s \ge i_j) & \text{if } k = i_j \text{ for some } j; \\ x_{e_j} + y_{e_j} + \tilde{p}_k(x_{e_j+1},\ldots,x_n,y_{e_{j+1}},\ldots,y_{e_s}) & \text{if } k = e_j \text{ for some } j. \end{cases}$$

Now that we have computed yx, we need to compute  $\alpha\beta$ . Since  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a\}$  is a strong Malcev basis for M, there are polynomials  $K_j$  and  $\tilde{K}_j$  such that

$$\alpha = \exp(\alpha_{i_1}M_1)\cdots\exp(\alpha_{i_a}M_a)$$
$$= \exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^a K_{i_j}(\alpha_{i_j},\ldots,\alpha_{i_a})M_j\right)$$

with  $K_{i_j}(\alpha_{i_j},\ldots,\alpha_a) = \alpha_{i_j} + \tilde{K}_{i_j}(\alpha_{i_{j+1}},\ldots,\alpha_{i_a})$ . Since  $\beta$  comes from the cross-section

$$\beta = \exp\left(\beta_{e_1} X_{e_1}\right) \cdots \exp\left(\beta_{e_c} X_{e_c}\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(\sum_{k=1}^n P_k(\beta_{e_j} \text{ with } e_j \ge k) X_k\right).$$

Fix  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  for the moment and let  $K_{i_j} = K_{i_j}(\alpha_{i_j}, \ldots, \alpha_{i_a})$  and

 $P_k = P_k(\beta_{e_j} \text{ with } e_j \ge k).$  Then

$$\alpha\beta = exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} K_{i_j} M_j\right) * exp\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} P_k X_k\right)$$
$$= exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} K_{i_j} M_j + \sum_{k=1}^{n} P_k X_k + \frac{1}{2} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{a} K_{i_j} M_j, \sum_{k=1}^{n} P_k X_k\right] + \dots\right)$$

$$=exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} K_{i_{j}}\left(X_{i_{j}}+\sum_{e_{p}< i_{j}} \omega_{e_{p}}^{i_{j}} X_{e_{p}}\right)+\sum_{k=1}^{n} P_{k} X_{k}+\frac{1}{2}\left[\sum_{j=1}^{a} K_{i_{j}}\left(X_{i_{j}}+\sum_{e_{p}< i_{j}} \omega_{e_{p}}^{i_{j}} X_{e_{p}}\right),\sum_{k=1}^{n} P_{k} X_{k}\right]+\dots\right)$$
$$=exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} K_{i_{j}} X_{i_{j}}+\sum_{k=1}^{n} P_{k} X_{k}+\sum_{j=1}^{a} K_{i_{j}}\left(\sum_{e_{p}< i_{j}} \omega_{e_{p}}^{i_{j}} X_{e_{p}}\right)+\frac{1}{2}\left[\sum_{j=1}^{a} K_{i_{j}}\left(X_{i_{j}}+\sum_{e_{p}< i_{j}} \omega_{e_{p}}^{i_{j}} X_{e_{p}}\right),\sum_{k=1}^{n} P_{k} X_{k}\right]+\dots\right)$$
$$=exp\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} Q_{j}(K,P,\omega) X_{j}\right).$$

Since  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$  is a strong Malcev basis, by the Campbell-Baker-Hausdorff formula we know that  $Q_j$  is polynomial in K,P and  $\omega$ , and that there exist polynomials  $\tilde{Q}_s$  such that

$$Q_{j}(K, P, \omega) = \begin{cases} K_{i_{k}} + P_{i_{k}} + \tilde{Q}_{i_{k}}(K_{i_{k+1}}, \dots, K_{i_{a}}, P_{i_{k}+1}, \dots, P_{n}, \\ \omega_{e_{p}}^{i_{q}} \text{ where } i_{q} > e_{p} > i_{k}) & \text{if } j = i_{k} \text{ for some } k; \\ P_{e_{k}} + \tilde{Q}_{e_{k}}(K_{i_{p}} \text{ with } i_{p} > e_{k}, P_{e_{k}+1}, \dots, P_{n}, \\ \omega_{e_{p}}^{i_{q}} \text{ where } i_{q} > e_{p} \ge e_{k}) & \text{if } j = e_{k} \text{ for some } k. \end{cases}$$

Define the polynomials  $q_j(\alpha,\beta,\omega), \tilde{q}_j(\alpha,\beta,\omega)$  by the equations

 $q_j(lpha,eta,\omega)$ 

$$=Q_{j}(K(\alpha), P(\beta), \omega)$$

$$=\begin{cases}
K_{i_{k}}(\alpha) + P_{i_{k}}(\beta) + \tilde{Q}_{i_{k}}(K_{i_{k+1}}(\alpha), \dots, K_{i_{a}}(\alpha), P_{i_{k}+1}(\beta), \dots, P_{n}(\beta), \\ & \omega_{e_{p}}^{i_{q}} \text{ where } i_{q} > e_{p} > i_{k}) & \text{if } j = i_{k} \text{ for some } k; \\
P_{e_{k}}(\beta) + \tilde{Q}_{e_{k}}(K_{i_{p}}(\alpha) \text{ with } i_{p} > e_{k}, P_{e_{k}+1}(\beta), \dots, P_{n}(\beta), \\ & \omega_{e_{p}}^{i_{q}} \text{ where } i_{q} > e_{p} \ge e_{k}) & \text{if } j = e_{k} \text{ for some } k;
\end{cases}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \alpha_{i_k} + \tilde{q}_{i_k}(\alpha_{i_{k+1}}, \dots, \alpha_{i_a}, \beta_{i_k+1}, \dots, \beta_n, \omega_{e_p}^{i_q} \text{ where } i_q > e_p > i_k) \\ & \text{if } j = i_k \text{ for some } k; \\ \beta_{e_k} + \tilde{q}_{e_k}(\alpha_{i_p} \text{ with } i_p > e_k, \beta_{e_k+1}, \dots, \beta_n, \omega_{e_p}^{i_q} \text{ where } i_q > e_p \ge e_k) \\ & \text{if } j = e_k \text{ for some } k. \end{cases}$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

$$p_{k}(x,y) = q_{k}(\alpha,\beta,\omega)$$

for k = 1, ..., n. Use this to solve for  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ .

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{i_k} &= x_{i_k} + \tilde{p}_{i_k}(x_{i_k+1}, \dots, x_n, y_{e_s} \text{ with } e_s \ge i_k) - \\ & \tilde{q}_{i_k}(\alpha_{i_{k+1}}, \dots, \alpha_{i_a}, \beta_{i_k+1}, \dots, \beta_n, \omega_{e_p}^{i_q} \text{ where } i_q > e_p > i_k) \\ \beta_{e_k} &= x_{e_k} + y_{e_k} + \tilde{p}_k(x_{e_k+1}, \dots, x_n, y_{e_{k+1}}, \dots, y_{e_c}) - \\ & \tilde{q}_{e_k}(\alpha_{i_p} \text{ with } i_p > e_k, \beta_{e_k+1}, \dots, \beta_n, \omega_{e_p}^{i_q} \text{ where } i_q > e_p \ge e_k). \end{aligned}$$

By the triangular dependencies of the  $\tilde{q}$  there are polynomials A and B such that

$$\alpha_{i_k}(x, y, \omega) = x_{i_k} + A_{i_k}(x_{i_k+1}, \dots, x_n, y_{e_s} \text{ with } e_s \ge i_k, \omega_{e_p}^{i_q} \text{ where } i_q > e_p > i_k)$$
  
$$\beta_{e_k}(x, y, \omega) = x_{e_k} + y_{e_k} + B_{e_k}(x_{e_k+1}, \dots, x_n, y_{e_{k+1}}, \dots, y_{e_c}, \omega_{e_p}^{i_q} \text{ where } i_q > e_p \ge e_k).$$

Now that we have this calculation

$$\begin{aligned} \pi_{\ell}(x)f(y) &= f(yx) \\ &= \chi_{\ell}(\alpha(x,y,\omega))f(\beta(x,y,\omega)) \\ &= \chi_{\ell}(exp(\alpha_{i_{1}}(x,y,\omega)M_{1}),\ldots,exp(\alpha_{i_{a}}(x,y,\omega)M_{a})) \\ &f(exp(\beta_{e_{1}}(x,y,\omega)X_{e_{1}}),\ldots,exp(\beta_{e_{c}}(x,y,\omega)X_{e_{c}})) \\ &= \chi_{\ell}(exp(\alpha_{i_{1}}(x,y,\omega)M_{1}))\cdots\chi_{\ell}(exp(\alpha_{i_{a}}(x,y,\omega)M_{a})) \\ &f(exp(\beta_{e_{1}}(x,y,\omega)X_{e_{1}}),\ldots,exp(\beta_{e_{c}}(x,y,\omega)X_{e_{c}})) \\ &= e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} \alpha_{i_{j}}(x,y,\omega)\ell(M_{j})\right)} \\ &= e^{-2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} \alpha_{i_{j}}(x,y,\omega)\ell(M_{j})\right)} \\ &= e^{-2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} \alpha_{i_{j}}(x,y,\omega)\ell(M_{j})\right)} \end{aligned}$$

We have proven the following:

**Theorem 3.2.1.** Let  $\mathfrak{g}$  be a connected, simply connected nilpotent Lie algebra with strong Malcev basis  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$ . Let  $\ell \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  and let m be a polarizer for  $\ell$ . Finally let  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a, X_{e_1}, \ldots, X_{e_c}\}$  be the almost strong Malcev basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$  through m. If we use this basis to calculate the action of  $\pi_{\ell}$  on  $L^2(\Re^c)$ , then that action is given by the following formula:

$$\pi_{\ell}(x)f(y) = e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} \alpha_{i_j}(x,y,\omega)\ell(M_j)\right)} f\left(exp(\beta_{e_1}(x,y,\omega)X_{e_1}), \dots, exp(\beta_{e_c}(x,y,\omega)X_{e_c})\right)$$

where the polynomials  $\alpha_{i_j}$  and  $\beta_{e_j}$  have the form

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{i_k}(x, y, \omega) &= x_{i_k} + A_{i_k}(x_{i_k+1}, \dots, x_n, y_{e_s} \text{ with } e_s > i_k, \omega_{e_p}^{i_q} \text{ where } i_q > e_p > i_k) \\ \beta_{e_k}(x, y, \omega) &= x_{e_k} + y_{e_k} + B_{e_k}(x_{e_k+1}, \dots, x_n, y_{e_{k+1}}, \dots, y_{e_c}, \omega_{e_p}^{i_q} \text{ where } i_q > e_p \ge e_k) \\ \text{for some polynomials } A, B. \end{aligned}$$

Notice that this equation for  $\pi_{\ell}$  has the form outlined in the beginning of this chapter. It is known that the coefficients  $\omega$  for the basis vectors of m can be chosen so that they are rational functions of  $\ell$ . Theorem 3.2.1 shows then that the action of  $\pi_{\ell}$  depends rationally on  $\ell$ . In the next section we will make use of theorem 3.2.1 when  $\ell \in U \cap V_T$  the set of parameterizing functionals, and there is one fixed polarizer m for all such  $\ell$ . In this case we will not need to keep track of the coefficients  $\omega$ .

In the next example we compute the action of  $\pi_{\ell}$  in two different polarizers. One polarizer is fixed, and the other one rotates with  $\ell$ . We will be using this example in several places to compare the resulting representations. **Example 3.2.2.** Consider the 9-dimensional algebra  $\mathfrak{g} = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_1, \ldots, X_9\}$  with non-zero bracket relations

$$[X_9, X_5] = X_3 \qquad [X_9, X_4] = X_3 \qquad [X_9, X_8] = -X_6$$
$$[X_9, X_7] = -X_2 \qquad [X_8, X_3] = -X_2 \qquad [X_5, X_4] = -X_1$$
$$[X_6, X_5] = -X_2 \qquad [X_6, X_4] = -X_2$$

and center  $\mathfrak{z}(\mathfrak{g}) = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_1, X_2\}$ . Let  $\ell = \sum_{i=1}^{9} \ell_i X_i^*$ . Then  $U = \{\ell \mid \ell_1, \ell_2 \neq 0\}$ are the generic  $\ell$ , and for generic  $\ell$  the radical,  $r_{\ell}$ , of  $\ell$  is

$$r_l = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_1, X_2, \ell_1 X_6 - \ell_2 X_5 + \ell_2 X_4\}.$$

We will make use of two different polarizers for this example:

$$m = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_1, X_2, X_3, X_5 - X_4, X_6, X_7\}$$

and

$$m_{\ell} = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4, \ell_1 X_6 - \ell_2 X_5, X_7\}$$

which rotates with  $\ell$ . For the fixed polarizer the external vectors are  $\{X_4, X_8, X_8\}$ , and for the rotating polarizers the external vectors are  $\{X_5, X_8, X_9\}$ .

We will use  $\pi_{\ell}$  and  $\bar{\pi}_{\ell}$  to denote the actions of the representations in the fixed polarizer and rotating polarizer respectively. As might be expected the action of  $\pi_{\ell}$ is nicer than the action of  $\bar{\pi}_{\ell}$ , in the sense that  $\pi_{\ell}$  depends polynomially on  $\ell$  while  $\bar{\pi}_{\ell}$  depends rationally on  $\ell$ . The dependencies are made clearer by the following formulas for the actions of  $\pi_{\ell}$  and  $\bar{\pi}_{\ell}$ :

$$\pi_{\ell}(y)f(x_{4}, x_{8}, x_{9})$$

$$=\pi_{\ell}\left(exp(y_{1}X_{1})\cdots exp(y_{9}X_{9})\right)f(exp(x_{4}X_{4})exp(x_{8}X_{8})exp(x_{9}X_{9}))$$

$$=e^{2\pi i\ell_{1}\left(y_{1}+y_{5}(x_{4}+y_{4}+\frac{1}{2}y_{5})\right)}$$

$$\cdot e^{2\pi i\ell_{2}\left(y_{2}-x_{8}y_{3}+y_{6}(y_{4}+y_{5}+x_{4})-x_{9}\left(y_{7}+x_{4}y_{8}+(x_{8}+y_{8})(y_{4}+y_{5})\right)\right)}$$

$$\cdot e^{2\pi i\left(\ell_{3}\left(y_{3}+x_{9}(y_{4}+y_{5})\right)-\ell_{4}y_{5}+\ell_{5}y_{5}+\ell_{6}\left(y_{6}-x_{9}y_{8}\right)+\ell_{7}y_{7}\right)}$$

$$\cdot f(x_{4}+y_{4}+y_{5},x_{8}+y_{8},x_{9}+y_{9})$$

and

$$\begin{split} \bar{\pi}_{\ell}(y)f(x_{5}, x_{8}, x_{9}) \\ =& \bar{\pi}_{\ell}\Big(exp\left(y_{1}X_{1}\right)\cdots exp\left(y_{9}X_{9}\right)\Big)f\left(exp\left(x_{5}X_{5}\right)exp\left(x_{8}X_{8}\right)exp\left(x_{9}X_{9}\right)\right) \\ =& e^{2\pi i\ell_{1}}\left(y_{1}-x_{5}y_{4}\right) \\ \cdot e^{2\pi i\ell_{2}}\left(y_{2}-x_{8}y_{3}-x_{9}y_{7}+x_{5}y_{6}+y_{5}y_{6}-x_{8}x_{9}y_{4}-x_{8}x_{9}y_{5}-x_{9}y_{5}y_{8}-x_{5}x_{9}y_{8}\right) \\ \cdot e^{2\pi i\left(\ell_{3}\left(y_{3}+x_{9}\left(y_{4}+y_{5}\right)\right)+\ell_{4}y_{4}+\ell_{6}\left(y_{6}-x_{9}y_{8}\right)+\ell_{7}y_{7}\right)} \\ \cdot e^{2\pi i\left(\ell_{3}\left(y_{3}+x_{9}\left(y_{4}+y_{5}\right)\right)+\ell_{4}y_{4}+\ell_{6}\left(y_{6}-x_{9}y_{8}\right)+\ell_{7}y_{7}\right)} \\ \cdot e^{2\pi i\left(\ell_{3}\left(y_{6}-x_{9}y_{8}\right)\left(\frac{\ell_{2}}{2}\left(y_{6}-x_{9}y_{8}\right)-\ell_{5}\right)} \\ \cdot f\left(\frac{\ell_{2}}{\ell_{1}}\left(y_{6}-x_{9}y_{8}\right)+x_{5}+y_{5},x_{8}+y_{8},x_{9}+y_{9}\right). \end{split}$$

# 3.3 The parameterizing representations

As in section 3.1 we will start with a fixed strong Malcev basis  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$ of the Lie algebra g. With respect to this basis we will let U denote the collection of generic orbits and  $S = \{s_1, \ldots, s_o\}, T = \{t_1, \ldots, t_r\}$  will denote the collection

of jump and non-jump indices respectively. Then o is the dimension of the generic orbits and r is the dimension of the radical  $r_{\ell}$  for generic  $\ell \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ . If we let  $V_T = \{X_{t_i}^* | t_i \in T\}$ , then  $U \bigcap V_T$  is the collection of parameterizing functionals.

In the previous section we showed that

$$\pi_{\ell_T}(x)f(y) = e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^s \alpha_{i_j}(x,y,\omega)\ell_T(M_j)\right)} f(exp(\beta_{e_1}(x,y,\omega)X_{e_1},\ldots,exp(\beta_{e_c}(x,y,\omega)X_{e_c})))$$

Here  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_c, X_{e_1}, \ldots, X_{e_c}\}$  is an almost strong Malcev basis for  $\mathfrak{g}$  through a polarizer m for  $\ell$ , and the  $\omega$  are coefficients for the  $M_j$  in terms of the original strong Malcev basis:  $M_j = X_{i_j} + \sum_{e_p < i_j} \omega_{e_p}^{i_j} X_{e_p}$ .

We will assume that there is one fixed polarizer m for all  $\ell_T \in U \cap V_T$ . In this case the coefficients  $\omega$  are fixed, and so we may rewrite the equation for  $\pi_{\ell_T}$  as

$$\pi_{\ell_T}(x)f(y) = e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} \alpha_{i_j}(x,y)\ell_T(M_j)\right)} f\left(exp(\beta_{e_1}(x,y)X_{e_1}), \dots, exp(\beta_{e_c}(x,y)X_{e_c})\right).$$

It turns out that when you pass an almost strong Malcev basis through a polarizer for a generic representation, then the set T of non-jump indices must be contained in the set of internal indices I, which is what the next lemma shows.

Lemma 3.3.1. For each  $t_i \in T$  there is a vector  $Y_{t_i} \in \Re$ -span $\{X_{e_k} | e_k < t_i\}$  such that  $X_{t_i} + Y_{t_i}$  is an element of our almost strong Malcev basis B through m.

**Proof.** Let  $B = \{M_1, \ldots, M_a, X_{e_1}, \ldots, X_{e_c}\}$  be the almost strong Malcev basis for g through m and fix a parameterizing functional  $\ell \in U \cap V_T$ . Then for each  $t_j \in T$  we may choose a vector  $Y_{t_j} \in \Re$ -span $\{X_1, \ldots, X_{t_j-1}\}$  such that  $X_{t_j} + Y_{t_j} \in r_{\ell}$ . We may do this since  $t_j$  is a non-jump index and  $\ell$  is generic.

Define the projection map  $P : \mathfrak{g} \to \Re-\operatorname{span}\{X_{e_1}, \ldots, X_{e_c}\}$  with respect to the almost strong Malcev basis B.

Finally let  $\tilde{Y}_{t_j} = P(Y_{t_j})$ , so that  $Y_{t_j} = \tilde{Y}_{t_j} + M$  for some vector  $M \in m$ . That is we still have

$$X_{t_j} + \tilde{Y}_{t_j} \in m$$

and this vector has the correct form to be part of a strong Malcev basis. By uniqueness of almost strong Malcev basis, and Corollary 3.1.8,  $X_{t_j} + \tilde{Y}_{t_j} = M_k$  for some k.

Remark. Lemma 3.3.1 shows that the non-jump indices are contained in the internal indices for the almost strong Malcev basis. By taking set theoretic compliments we can see that the external indices for the basis are always jump indices. Notice that Lemma 3.3.1 does not depend on the polarizer being fixed. So the external indices will always be jump indices, and the non-jump indices will always be internal indices, even if the polarizers rotate with  $\ell$ .

These comments along with our calculated action of  $\pi_{\ell_T}$  allows us to prove.

**Theorem 3.3.2** Suppose that there is one fixed polarizer for the parameterizing functionals  $\ell_T = \sum_{j=1}^r \ell_{t_j} X_{t_j}^* \in U \cap V_T$ . Then  $\pi_{\ell_T}$  can be modeled in a fixed

modeling space  $L^2(\Re^c) \cong L^2(exp(\Re X_{e_1}), \cdots, exp(\Re X_{e_c}))$ , where the action of  $\pi_{\ell_T}$  is given by:

$$\pi_{\ell_T}(x)f(y) = \pi_{\ell_T}(exp(x_1X_1), \dots, exp(x_nX_n))f(exp(y_{e_1}X_{e_1}), \dots, exp(y_{e_c}X_{e_c}))$$

$$= e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^r \ell_{i_j}(x_{i_j} + A_{i_j}(x_{i_j+1}, \dots, x_n, y_k \text{ with } e_k > t_j)\right))}_{f(\beta_{e_1}(x, y), \dots, \beta_{e_c}(x, y))}$$

where  $\beta_{e_k}(x,y) = x_{e_k} + y_{e_k} + B_{e_k}(x_{e_k+1},\ldots,x_n;y_{e_{k+1}},\ldots,y_{e_c})$  and  $A_{t_j}, B_{e_k}$  are polynomial in x, y.

**Proof.** Notice that

$$\ell_T(M_j) = \ell_T \left( X_{i_j} + \sum_{e_p < i_j} \omega_{e_p}^{i_j} X_{e_p} \right)$$
$$= \ell_T \left( X_{i_j} \right) + \ell_T \left( \sum_{e_p < i_j} \omega_{e_p}^{i_j} X_{e_p} \right).$$

Now from the remarks following lemma 3.3.1,  $E \subset S$ . Since  $\ell_T$  is in the span of the vectors  $\{X_{t_i}^* | t_i \in T\}, \ell_T \left(\sum_{e_p < i_j} \omega_{e_p}^{i_j} X_{e_p}\right) = 0.$ 

So

$$\ell_T(M_j) = \ell_T \left( X_{i_j} + \sum_{e_p < i_j} \omega_{e_p}^{i_j} X_{e_p} \right)$$
$$= \ell_T \left( X_{i_j} \right)$$
$$= \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } i_j \notin T; \\ \ell_{t_k} & \text{if } i_j = t_k \text{ for some } k. \end{cases}$$

If we combine this with theorem 3.2.1 and lemma 3.3.1 we get:

$$\pi_{\ell}(x)f(y) = e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^{a} \alpha_{i_j}(x,y)\ell\left(M_j\right)\right)} f\left(exp(\beta_{e_1}(x,y)X_{e_1},\ldots,exp(\beta_{e_c}(x,y)X_{e_c}))\right)$$
$$= e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{k=1}^{r} \ell_{e_k}\alpha_{e_k}(x,y)\right)} f\left(exp(\beta_{e_1}(x,y)X_{e_1},\ldots,exp(\beta_{e_c}(x,y)X_{e_c}))\right)$$

This combined with our knowledge of the polynomials  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  from theorem 3.2.1 proves the theorem. This is the form we would expect from a representation induced from a polarizer that is also an ideal, so our use of almost strong Malcev basis paid off.

Example 3.2.2 continued. The non-jump indices are those indices  $t_k, k \in T$ , such that for each generic  $\ell$  there exists a vector  $Y_{t_k}(\ell) \in \Re$ -span $\{X_1, \ldots, X_{t_k-1}\}$  with  $X_{t_k} + Y_{t_k}(\ell) \in r_{\ell}$ . From our previous calculations we see that the non-jump indices are  $T = \{t_1, t_2, t_3\} = \{1, 2, 6\}$ , and the jump indices are  $S = \sim T = \{s_1, \ldots, s_6\} = \{3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9\}$ .

Therefore parameterizing functionals are of the form  $\ell_T = \ell_1 X_1^* + \ell_2 X_2^* + \ell_6 X_6^*$ with  $\ell_1, \ell_2 \neq 0$ . The actions of  $\pi_{\ell_T}$  and  $\bar{\pi}_{\ell_T}$  are given by

$$\pi_{\ell_{T}}(y)f(x_{4}, x_{8}, x_{9})$$

$$=\pi_{\ell_{T}}\left(exp(y_{1}X_{1})\cdots exp(y_{9}X_{9})\right)f(exp(x_{4}X_{4})exp(x_{8}X_{8})exp(x_{9}X_{9}))$$

$$=e^{2\pi i\ell_{1}\left(y_{1}+y_{5}(x_{4}+y_{4}+\frac{1}{2}y_{5})\right)}$$

$$\cdot e^{2\pi i\ell_{2}\left(y_{2}-x_{8}y_{3}+y_{6}(y_{4}+y_{5}+x_{4})-x_{9}\left(y_{7}+x_{4}y_{8}+(x_{8}+y_{8})(y_{4}+y_{5})\right)\right)}$$

$$\cdot e^{2\pi i\ell_{6}\left(y_{6}-x_{9}y_{8}\right)}f(x_{4}+y_{4}+y_{5}, x_{8}+y_{8}, x_{9}+y_{9})$$

and

$$\bar{\pi}_{\ell_T}(y)f(x_5, x_8, x_9)$$

$$= \bar{\pi}_{\ell_T}\left(exp(y_1X_1)\cdots exp(y_9X_9)\right)f(exp(x_5X_5)exp(x_8X_8)exp(x_9X_9))$$

$$= e^{2\pi i \ell_1\left(y_1 - x_5y_4\right)}$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

$$\cdot e^{2\pi i \ell_2 \left( y_2 - x_8 y_3 - x_9 y_7 + x_5 y_6 + y_5 y_6 - x_8 x_9 y_4 - x_8 x_9 y_5 - x_9 y_5 y_8 - x_5 x_9 y_8} \right)} \cdot e^{2\pi i \left( \ell_6 \left( y_6 - x_9 y_8 \right) + \frac{\ell_2^2}{2\ell_1} (y_6 - x_9 y_8)^2 \right)} f\left( \frac{\ell_2}{\ell_1} (y_6 - x_9 y_8) + x_5 + y_5, x_8 + y_8, x_9 + y_9 \right).$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

-- -

- -

### **CHAPTER 4**

## A SZASZ-MÜNTZ THEOREM FOR MATRIX COEFFICIENTS

In Chapter 2 we proved a Szasz-Müntz theorem for compactly supported  $L^2$ functions in  $\Re^n$ . In this chapter we will prove a similar theorem for compactly supported  $L^2$  functions on a certain class of simply connected nilpotent Lie groups. The class of groups we will deal with throughout this chapter is the class mentioned in the previous chapter: the groups that have one fixed polarizer for all of the parameterizing functionals  $\ell_T \in U \cap V_T$ . For example this includes all of the n-step chain groups.

Fix a group  $\mathfrak{G}$  and a strong Malcev basis  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$  so that  $\mathfrak{G}$  satisfies the conditions above. Let m be the fixed polarizer for the parameterizing functionals, and  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a, X_{e_1}, \ldots, X_{e_c}\}$  be the almost strong Malcev basis of  $\mathfrak{g}$  passing through m. From the previous chapter we know that for each  $\ell_T$ ,  $\pi_{\ell_T}$  can be modeled in the fixed modeling space  $L^2(\Re^c)$ .

For  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathfrak{G}) \cap L^1(\mathfrak{G})$  and  $f, g \in L^2(\Re^c)$  we define the matrix coefficient of the operator valued transform  $\hat{\varphi}_{op}(\ell_T) = \pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)$  by

$$\langle \pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)f,g \rangle = \int_{\mathfrak{G}} \varphi(x) \langle \pi_{\ell_T}(x)f,g \rangle dx.$$

In fact this relation also defines  $\pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)$ . The next theorem shows that in the scenario outlined above these matrix coefficients are actually Euclidean Fourier Transforms of certain  $L^2 \cap L^1$  functions. Then we will show that if  $\varphi$  is compactly supported, we can use the Euclidean Szasz-Müntz theorem. Before we proceed we need to fix some notation. Denote by  $T = \{t_1, \ldots, t_r\}$ the non-jump indices associated with the generic orbits, where r is the dimension of the radical for generic  $\ell$ . As we have shown in the previous chapter,  $T \subseteq I$ , where I is the collection of internal indices for the almost strong Malcev basis  $\{M_1, \ldots, M_a, X_{e_1}, \ldots, X_{e_e}\}$ .

**Theorem 4.1.** Assume  $\varphi \circ exp \in L^2(\Re^n) \cap L^1(\Re^n)$  and  $f, g \in L^2(\Re^c)$ . Then there exist polynomials q and  $\beta$  such that

$$\langle \pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)f,g \rangle = \int_{\Re^{n+c}} e^{2\pi i \sum_{j=1}^r l_{\ell_j} x_{\ell_j}} \tilde{\varphi}(q(x,y)) f(\beta(x,y)) g(y) dx dy$$
$$= \hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_T)$$

where

$$1)\tilde{\varphi}(z_{1},\ldots,z_{n}) = \varphi\left(exp(z_{1}X_{1})\cdots exp(z_{n}X_{n})\right), (z_{1},\ldots,z_{n}) \in \Re^{n}$$

$$2)q(x,y) = (q_{1}(x,y),\ldots,q_{n}(x,y)), \quad \beta(x,y) = (\beta_{e_{1}}(x,y),\ldots,\beta_{e_{c}}(x,y))$$

$$3)q_{j}(x,y) = \begin{cases} x_{t_{i}} + \tilde{q}_{t_{i}}(x_{t_{i}+1},\ldots,x_{n};y_{e_{k}} \text{ with } e_{k} > t_{i}) & \text{if } j = t_{i} \text{ for some } i; \\ x_{s_{i}} & \text{if } j = s_{i} \text{ for some } i; \end{cases}$$

$$4)\beta_{e_{j}}(x,y) = x_{e_{j}} + y_{e_{j}} + \tilde{\beta}_{e_{j}}(x_{e_{j}+1},\ldots,x_{n};y_{e_{j+1}},\ldots,y_{e_{c}})$$

$$5)\Phi_{f,g}(x_{T}) = \int_{\Re^{3c}} \tilde{\varphi}(q(x,y))f(\beta(x,y))g(y)dx_{S}dy \in L^{1}(\Re^{r}) \cap L^{2}(\Re^{r})$$

**Remarks.** Here c is the co-dimension of the polarizer.  $x_T = (x_{t_1}, \ldots, x_{t_r}), x_S = (x_{s_1}, \ldots, x_{s_o})$  where o is the dimension of the generic orbits and  $S = \{s_1, \ldots, s_o\}$  is the collection of jump indices. In 3), 3c is the correct dimension since n + c - r = (n - r) + c = 2c + c = 3c.

**Proof.** From chapter 3 we know that the action of  $\pi_{\ell_T}$  is given by

$$\pi_{\ell_T}(x)f(y) = \frac{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^r \ell_{i_j} \left(x_{i_j} + A_{i_j} \left(x_{i_j+1}, \dots, x_n, y_k \text{ with } e_k > t_j\right)\right)\right)}{f\left(\beta_{e_1}(x, y), \dots, \beta_{e_c}(x, y)\right)}$$

where  $\beta_{e_k}(x, y) = x_{e_k} + y_{e_k} + \tilde{\beta}_{e_k}(x_{e_k+1}, \dots, x_n; y_{e_{k+1}}, \dots, y_{e_c}), \ell_T = \sum_{t_j \in T} \ell_{t_j} X_{t_j}^*$  and  $A_{t_j}, \tilde{\beta}_{e_k}$  are polynomial in x, y.

Therefore

$$\langle \pi_{\ell_{T}}(\varphi)f,g \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\mathfrak{S}} \varphi(h) \langle \pi_{\ell_{T}}(h)f,g \rangle dh$$

$$= \int_{\mathfrak{S}} \tilde{\varphi}(z) \Big( \int_{\mathfrak{R}^{c}} \pi_{\ell_{T}}(z)f(y)g(y)dy \Big) dz$$

$$= \int_{\mathfrak{R}^{n+c}} e^{2\pi i \left( \sum_{j=1}^{r} \ell_{\ell_{j}}(z_{\ell_{j}} + A_{\ell_{j}}(z_{\ell_{j}+1}, \dots, z_{n}, y_{k} \text{ with } e_{k} > t_{j}) \right) )}$$

$$= \int_{\mathfrak{R}^{n+c}} e^{2\pi i \left( \sum_{j=1}^{r} \ell_{\ell_{j}}(z_{\ell_{j}} + A_{\ell_{j}}(z_{\ell_{j}+1}, \dots, z_{n}, y_{k} \text{ with } e_{k} > t_{j}) \right) )}$$

$$= \int_{\mathfrak{R}^{n+c}} e^{2\pi i \left( \sum_{j=1}^{r} \ell_{\ell_{j}}(z_{\ell_{j}} + A_{\ell_{j}}(z_{\ell_{j}+1}, \dots, z_{n}, y_{k} \text{ with } e_{k} > t_{j}) \right) )}$$

$$= \int_{\mathfrak{R}^{n+c}} e^{2\pi i \left( \sum_{j=1}^{r} \ell_{\ell_{j}} z_{\ell_{j}} x_{\ell_{j}} \right)} \tilde{\varphi}(q(x, y)) f(\beta(x, y)) g(y) dx dy$$

where q(x, y) comes from the change of variables

$$x_j = \begin{cases} z_{t_i} + A_{t_i}(z_{t_i+1}, \dots, z_n, y_k \text{ with } e_k > t_i) & \text{if } j = t_i \text{ for some } i; \\ z_{s_i} & \text{if } j = s_i \text{ for some } i. \end{cases}$$

Remark. We may use Fubini in the previous calculations since,

$$\int_{\Re^{n+c}} \left| e^{2\pi i \left( \sum_{j=1}^{r} \ell_{t_j} \left( z_{t_j} + A_{t_j} \left( z_{t_j+1}, \dots, z_n, y_k \text{ with } e_k > t_j \right) \right) \right)} \right.$$
$$\tilde{\varphi}(z) f \left( \beta_{e_1}(z, y), \dots, \beta_{e_c}(z, y) \right) g(y) \right| dy dz$$
$$= \int_{\Re^n} \left| \tilde{\varphi}(z) \left\langle \pi_{\ell_T}(z) f, g \right\rangle \right| dh$$
$$\leq ||g||_2^2 ||\varphi||_1 ||f||_2^2$$

by the Schwarz inequality and the fact that  $\pi_{\ell_T}$  is unitary.

$$\begin{aligned} &\langle \pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)f,g \rangle \\ &= \int\limits_{\Re^{n+\epsilon}} e^{2\pi i \sum\limits_{j=1}^r \ell_{t_j} x_{t_j}} \tilde{\varphi}(q(x,y)) f(\beta(x,y)) g(y) dx dy \\ &= \int\limits_{\Re^r} e^{2\pi i \sum\limits_{j=1}^r \ell_{t_j} x_{t_j}} \Big( \int\limits_{\Re^{3\epsilon}} \tilde{\varphi}(q(x,y)) f(\beta(x,y)) g(y) dx_S dy \Big) dx_T \\ &= \int\limits_{\Re^r} e^{2\pi i \sum\limits_{j=1}^r \ell_{t_j} x_{t_j}} \Phi_{f,g}(x_T) dx_T \\ &= \hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_T) \end{aligned}$$

where the use of Fubini may be justified as above, and in fact this shows that  $\Phi_{f,g} \in L^1(\Re^r)$ . It remains to show that  $\Phi_{f,g} \in L^2(\Re^r)$ .

We will show that  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g} \in L^2(\Re^r)$ .

First assume that f and g are part of an orthonormal basis for  $L^2(\Re^c)$ . Then by the Plancherel theorem and the definition of the Hilbert-Schmidt norm

$$\begin{split} \left\| \hat{\Phi}_{f,g} \right\|_{2}^{2} &= \int _{\Re^{r}} \left| \hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_{T}) \right|^{2} d\ell_{T} \\ &= \int _{\Re^{r}} \left| \left\langle \pi_{\ell_{T}}(\varphi) f, g \right\rangle \right|^{2} d\ell_{T} \\ &\leq \int _{\Re^{r}} \left\| \pi_{\ell_{T}}(\varphi) \right\|_{H-S}^{2} d\ell_{T} \\ &= \| \varphi \|_{2}^{2} < \infty. \end{split}$$

So  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g} \in L^2(\Re^r)$  in this case. For arbitrary f and g, the Gram-Scmidt process shows that f, g are a linear combination of at most two basis vectors from some orthonormal basis. Hence by the linearity of  $\hat{\Phi}$  in f and g,  $\hat{\Phi}$  is a finite linear combination of  $L^2$  functions, and hence  $L^2$ .

Example 4.2. We will continue with the use of example 3.2.2 from the previous chapter. In this case we will restrict our attention to the representations  $\pi_{\ell_T}$  that come from the fixed polarizer

$$m = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_1, X_2, X_3, X_5 - X_4, X_6, X_7\}.$$

For  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathfrak{G}) \bigcap L^1(\mathfrak{G})$  and  $f, g \in L^2(\mathfrak{R}^3)$  we have

$$\langle \pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi) f, g \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\Re^9} \tilde{\varphi}(y) \langle \pi_{\ell_T}(y)(\varphi) f, g \rangle dy$$

$$= \int_{\Re^{12}} e^{2\pi i \left(\ell_1 \left(y_1 + A_1(x, y)\right) + \ell_2 \left(y_2 + A_2(x, y)\right) + \ell_6 \left(y_6 + A_6(x, y)\right)\right)} \tilde{\varphi}(y)$$

$$f(x_4 + y_4 + y_5, x_8 + y_8, x_9 + y_9) g(x_4, x_8, x_9) dx_4 dx_8 dx_9 dy$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} A_1(x,y) &= y_5(x_4 + y_4 + \frac{1}{2}y_5) \\ A_2(x,y) &= -x_8y_3 + y_6(y_4 + y_5 + x_4) - x_9(y_7 + x_4y_8 + (x_8 + y_8)(y_4 + y_5)) \\ A_3(x,y) &= -x_9y_8 \end{aligned}$$

Make the change of variables

$$ar{y}_6 = y_6 + A_3(x,ar{y})$$
  
 $ar{z}_1 = z_1 + A_1(x,ar{y})$   
 $ar{z}_2 = z_2 + A_2(x,ar{y})$ 

where, for ease of notation,  $\bar{y}_i = y_i$  for  $i \neq 6$ . Then

\_

$$\langle \pi_{\ell_{T}}(\varphi)f,g \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\Re^{12}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \ell_{t_{i}}\bar{y}_{t_{i}}\right)} \tilde{\varphi}(q(x,\bar{y}))f(x_{4}+\bar{y}_{4}+\bar{y}_{5},x_{8}+\bar{y}_{8},x_{9}+\bar{y}_{9})g(x)dxd\bar{y}$$

$$= \int_{\Re^{3}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \ell_{t_{i}}\bar{y}_{t_{i}}\right)} \Phi(\bar{y}_{T})d\bar{y}_{T}$$

where  $\{t_1, t_2, t_3\} = \{1, 2, 6\}$  are the non-jump indices,

$$\begin{array}{c} q_{i}(x,\bar{y}) \\ = \begin{cases} \bar{y}_{i} & i \neq 1,2,6 \\ \bar{y}_{6} + x_{9}\bar{y}_{8} & i = 6 \\ \bar{y}_{2} + x_{8}\bar{y}_{3} - (\bar{y}_{6} + x_{9}\bar{y}_{8})(\bar{y}_{4} + \bar{y}_{5} + x_{4}) + \\ & x_{9}(\bar{y}_{7} + x_{4}\bar{y}_{8} + (x_{8} + \bar{y}_{8})(\bar{y}_{4} + \bar{y}_{5} + x_{9}\bar{y}_{8})) & i = 2 \\ \bar{y}_{1} - \bar{y}_{5}(x_{4} + \bar{y}_{4} + \frac{1}{2}\bar{y}_{5}) & i = 1 \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{split} &\Phi(\bar{y}_T) \\ =&\Phi(\bar{y}_1,\bar{y}_2,\bar{y}_6) \\ =& \int\limits_{\Re^9} \tilde{\varphi}(q(x,\bar{y}_S)) f(x_4+\bar{y}_4+\bar{y}_5,x_8+\bar{y}_8,x_9+\bar{y}_9) g(x) dx d\bar{y}_S \end{split}$$

- - -

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

is  $L^2(\Re^3) \cap L^1(\Re^3)$ . Notice that if in addition  $\varphi$  and g are compactly supported, then so is  $\Phi$ . The compact support of the variables x and  $y_S$  forces the compact support of the variables  $y_T$ .

Corollary 4.3. If  $\varphi \in L^1(\mathfrak{G}) \cap L^2(\mathfrak{G})$  and  $f, g \in L^2(\Re^c)$  then

$$\lim_{|\ell_T|\to\infty} \left\langle \pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)f,g\right\rangle = 0.$$

**Proof.** By theorem 4.1 we may use the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma for Euclidean  $L^1$  functions.

We are now in a position to prove a Szasz-Müntz theorem for these matrix coefficients. For a differentiable function f of k variables, let

$$f^{(n)}(s) = f^{(n_1,...,n_k)}(s_1,...,s_k) = \frac{\partial^{n_1+...+n_k}}{\partial s_1^{n_1}\cdots \partial s_k^{n_k}} f(s_1,...,s_k).$$

**Theorem 4.4.** Suppose that in addition to the conditions of theorem 4.1 we also know that  $\varphi$  and g have compact support. Then  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}$  has an entire extension to  $\mathbf{C}^{\mathbf{r}}$ . In addition if  $\mu = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_r)$  is an r-tuple of Szasz-Müntz sequences,  $\ell_T$  is a fixed element of the complexified dual, and

$$\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}^{\left(\mu_1(k_1),\ldots,\mu_r(k_r)\right)}(\ell_T)=0$$

for every  $k_1, \ldots, k_r$  then  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_T) = 0$  for all  $\ell_T$ .

**Proof.** By the Euclidean Szasz-Müntz theorem and theorem 4.1 it remains to check that  $\Phi_{f,g}$  is compactly supported. By definition

$$\Phi_{f,g}(x_T) = \int_{\Re^{3c}} \tilde{\varphi}(q(x,y)) f(\beta(x,y)) g(y) dx_S dy.$$

So it suffices to check that  $\tilde{\varphi}(q(x,y))f(\beta(x,y))g(y)$  is compactly supported. From the compact support of g we can see that y is compactly supported. By the compact support of  $\tilde{\varphi}$  and by property 3) from theorem 4.1 we can see that  $x_S$  is compactly supported. So it remains to see that  $x_T$  is compactly supported. We will work inductively starting with  $x_{t_r}$ .

Notice by the triangularity conditions on the  $q_j$  that

$$q_r(x,y) = x_{t_r} + \tilde{q}_{t_r}(y_{e_k} \text{ with } e_k > t_r).$$

Since the y are compactly supported and so is  $\tilde{\varphi}$ , we must have  $x_{t_r}$  compactly supported. Now assume that  $x_{t_r}, \ldots, x_{t_{i+1}}$  are compactly supported, and consider  $x_{t_i}$ . Notice that  $q_{t_i}(x, y) = x_{t_i} + \tilde{q}_{t_i}(x_{t_i+1}, \ldots, x_n; y_{e_k})$  with  $e_k > t_i$ .  $\tilde{q}_{t_i}$  is a continuous function on a compact set, and hence bounded. Therefore by the compact support of  $\tilde{\varphi}$ ,  $x_{t_i}$  must be compactly supported.

Remark. In definition 2.2 of a Szasz-Müntz sequence  $\mu$  we require that the reciprocals of both the even and odd terms in  $\mu$  sum to infinity. Recall that this was necessary in order to have Szasz-Müntz theorems for functions with arbitrary support (functions with support not necessarily in  $\Re^{n^+}$ ). Notice that this kind of general theorem is necessary in theorem 4.4. Even if we assume that the function  $\varphi$  has support in  $\Re^{n^+}$ , the function  $\varphi(q)$  may have it's support anywhere.

Example 4.2 continued. Theorem 4.3 shows that in our example if  $\varphi$  and g have compact support then the matrix coefficients for  $\varphi$  satisfy a Szasz-Müntz theorem. This assumes we are using the representations  $\pi_{\ell}$  that come from the fixed polarizer m. However when we started this example in chapter 3 we computed the generic representations using two different basis, one fixed, and one that rotated with  $\ell$ . So what happens if we use the representations  $\bar{\pi}_{\ell}$  that come from the rotating polarizers to compute the matrix coefficients for  $\varphi$ ? The answer is not quite as nice:

$$\left\langle \bar{\pi}_{\ell_{T}}(\varphi)f,g \right\rangle$$

$$= \int_{\Re^{9}} \tilde{\varphi}(y) \langle \bar{\pi}_{\ell_{T}}(y)(\varphi)f,g \rangle dy$$

$$= \int_{\Re^{12}} e^{2\pi i \left(\ell_{1}\left(y_{1}+A_{1}(x,y)\right)+\ell_{2}\left(y_{2}+A_{2}(x,y)\right)+\ell_{6}\left(y_{6}+A_{6}(x,y)\right)\right)}$$

$$e^{2\pi i \frac{\ell_{2}^{2}}{2\ell_{1}^{2}}(y_{6}-x_{9}y_{8})^{2}} \tilde{\varphi}(y)$$

$$f\left(\frac{\ell_{2}}{\ell_{1}}(y_{6}-x_{9}y_{8})+x_{5}+y_{5}+y_{6},x_{8}+y_{8},x_{9}+y_{9})g(x_{4},x_{8},x_{9})dx_{5}dx_{8}dx_{9}dy \right)$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} A_1(x,y) &= -x_5 y_4 \\ A_2(x,y) &= -x_8 y_3 - x_9 y_7 + x_5 y_6 + y_5 y_6 - x_8 x_9 y_4 - x_8 x_9 y_5 - x_9 y_5 y_8 - x_5 x_9 y_8 \\ A_3(x,y) &= -x_9 y_8. \end{aligned}$$

The problem here is two-fold: first we now have rational components in  $\ell_1$ , and second we have introduced components of  $\ell$  inside f. If we add the assumption that f has an entire extension to  $\mathbb{C}^3$ , i.e. f is the Fourier transform of a compactly supported function, then Lipsman and Rosenberg [3] have shown that the resulting matrix coefficients have a Laurent expansion about  $\ell_1 = 0$ .

However we also know that the representations from the two different bases are unitarily equivalent. So for each  $\ell_T$  there is a unitary operator  $U(\ell_T) : L^2(\Re^3) \to L^2(\Re^3)$  such that

$$U(\ell_T)\pi_{\ell_T}=\bar{\pi}_{\ell_T}U(\ell_T).$$

In this case the operator  $U(\ell_T)$  is given by

$$\left(U(\ell_T)f\right)(x,y,z) = e^{2\pi i \frac{\ell_1}{2}x^2} \int_{\Re} e^{2\pi i \ell_1 x t} f(t,y,z) dt.$$

So

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)f,g \right\rangle \\ &= \int\limits_{\Re^9} \varphi(y) \langle \pi_{\ell_T}(y)f,g \rangle dy \\ &= \int\limits_{\Re^9} \varphi(y) \langle U(\ell_T) \left( \pi_{\ell_T}(y)f \right), U(\ell_T)g \rangle dy \\ &= \int\limits_{\Re^9} \varphi(y) \langle \bar{\pi}_{\ell_T}(y) \left( U(\ell_T)f \right), U(\ell_T)g \rangle dy \\ &= \left\langle \bar{\pi}_{\ell_T}(\varphi) \left( U(\ell_T)f \right), U(\ell_T)g \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

The moral is that if you are willing to let the Hilbert space in which you model your representations rotate with the polarizers, then you can have the nice behavior of the representions coming from a fixed polarizer.  $\Box$ 

For  $\mathfrak{G}$  as specified at the beginning of this chapter, we are ready to state a Szasz-Müntz theorem for the operator valued Fourier transform. We make use of what we know about the matrix coefficients of compactly supported functions from our previous work. We would like to write a partial derivative of the operator valued transform in terms of sums of derivatives of matrix coefficients, however there is no guarantee that these sums will converge. We discuss this further in the remarks following the theorem.

**Theorem 4.5(SZASZ-MÜNTZ).** Let  $\varphi \in L^2_c(\mathfrak{G})$  and  $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty} \subset L^2_c(\mathfrak{R}^c)$  be a fixed orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\mathfrak{R}^c)$ . Then

1) The operator valued Fourier Transform of  $\hat{\varphi}_{op}(\ell_T) : L^2(\Re^c) \to L^2(\Re^c)$  of  $\varphi$  has an entire extension to  $\mathbf{C}^r$  in the sense that

$$\hat{\varphi}_{op}(\ell_T)(f) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \hat{\Phi}_{f,\xi_j}(\ell_T)\xi_j$$

and each matrix coefficient  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,\xi_j}(\ell_T)$  has such an extension.

2) If for each pair of basis vectors  $\{\xi_i, \xi_j\}$  there exists a parameterizing functional  $\ell_T$ and an r-tuple of Szasz-Müntz sequences  $\mu_{i,j}$  such that  $\hat{\Phi}^{\mu_{i,j}}_{\xi_i,\xi_j}(\ell_T) = 0$ , then  $\varphi = 0$ .

**Proof.** Notice that  $L_c^2(\Re^c) \subset L^1(\Re^c)$  so that 1) follows from Theorem 4.3. In 2), the existence of the Ssasz-Müntz sequence  $\mu_{i,j}$  ensures that  $\hat{\Phi}_{\xi_i,\xi_j}(\ell_T) = 0$  for all  $\ell_T$  and i, j, by theorem 4.4. Finally

$$\left\|\hat{\varphi}_{op}(\ell_T)\right\|_{H-S}^2 = \sum_{i,j=1}^{\infty} |\hat{\Phi}_{\xi_i,\xi_j}(\ell_T)|^2 = 0$$

and

$$\|\varphi\|_2^2 = \int\limits_{V_T} \left\|\hat{\varphi}_{op}(\ell_T)\right\|_{H-S}^2 d\ell_T = 0.$$

by the nilpotent Plancherel theorem.

**Remark.** Let  $\mu = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_r)$  be an r-tuple of Szasz-Müntz sequences. Formally define a partial derivative of  $\hat{\varphi}_{op}(\ell_T)$  by the formula

$$\hat{\varphi}^{\mu}_{op}(\ell_T)(f) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \hat{\Phi}^{\mu}_{f,\xi_j}(\ell_T)\xi_j.$$

As remarked before the theorem these sums do not necessarily converge, however for this formal definition theorem 4.5 shows that if enough of these formal derivatives vanish, for all f coming from the orthonormal basis and a fixed  $\ell_T$ , then  $\varphi$  itself must vanish. In this sense theorem 4.5 is the equivalent of a Szasz-Müntz theorem for the operator valued transform on a nilpotent Lie group.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

# MATRIX COEFFICIENTS FOR A GROUP WITH ROTATING POLARIZERS

In chapter 4 we considered matrix coefficients on groups that had a fixed polarizer m for all of the parameterizing functionals  $\ell_T \in U \bigcap V_T$ . We were able to show in this instance that these matrix coefficients had an entire extension to the complexified dual space, and that they satisfied a Szasz-Müntz theorem.

We now want to consider an example where the polarizers rotate with  $\ell_T$ . Much of nilpotent Harmonic analysis depends on making choices, choosing the correct polarizer, choosing a coordinate system, choosing a basis, etc. In order to avoid an example where we simply made a poor choice for a polarizer we will work with an example where there is no one fixed polarizer for all of the parameterizing representations. The group is the free abelian group on four generators, two step, which we will call  $F_{4,2}$ . The corresponding algebra will be called  $f_{4,2}$ .

We will proceed as follows: First we will show that polarizers for the parameterizing representations must rotate, then we will fix a family of polarizers that rotate with parameterizing  $\ell_T$  and calculate the matrix coefficients for this example. When we do that we will find that the matrix coefficients do not have an entire extension, however they have a Laurent expansion. From there we will consider possible Szasz-Müntz theorems in terms of the coefficients in the Laurent expansion of the matrix coefficient, and we will prove a partial Szasz-Müntz theorem for  $f_{4,2}$ . The Szasz-Müntz theorem we prove is not as strong as the Szasz-Müntz theorems for groups with a fixed polarizer. This example is important because it illustrates the difficulty when you go outside the class of groups we have proven Szasz-Müntz theorems for.

We start with a strong Malcev basis  $Y = \{Z_1, Z_2, Z_3, Z_4, Z_5, Z_6, Y_1, Y_2, Y_3, Y_4\}$ of  $f_{4,2}$ , with nontrivial bracket relations:

| $[Y_1, Y_2] = -Z_1$ | $[Y_2, Y_3] = Z_3$   |
|---------------------|----------------------|
| $[Y_1,Y_3]=Z_4$     | $[Y_2,Y_4]=Z_5$      |
| $[Y_1, Y_4] = Z_6$  | $[Y_3, Y_4] = -Z_2.$ |

The collection of generic orbits is given by the Zariski open conditions

$$U = \{\ell | \ell_1 \neq 0, \ell_1 \ell_2 - \ell_4 \ell_5 + \ell_3 \ell_6 \neq 0\}$$

(where  $\ell = \ell_1 Z_1 + \ldots + \ell_6 Z_6 + \ell_7 Y_1 + \ldots + \ell_{10} Y_4$ ) and the non-jump and jump indices are the indices  $T = \{1, \ldots, 6\}$  and  $S = \{7, 8, 9, 10\}$ .

The parameterizing functionals then are the functionals with the coefficients in the direction of S set to zero. That is

$$U\bigcap V_T = \{\ell_T | \ell_1 \neq 0, \ell_1 \ell_2 - \ell_4 \ell_5 + \ell_3 \ell_6 \neq 0; \ell_7 = \ell_8 = \ell_9 = \ell_{10} = 0\}.$$

Notice that for generic  $\ell$ , dim  $r_{\ell} = |T| = 6$ , which is the dimension of the center of  $f_{4,2}$ . So this group has square integrable representations mod the center. In the next section we show that any choice of polarizers for parameterizing  $\ell$  must rotate.

### 5.1 There is no fixed polarizer for the parameterizing functionals in $f_{4,2}$

Notice that  $m_{\ell_T} = \{Z_1, \ldots, Z_6, Y_1, \ell_1 Y_3 + \ell_4 Y_2\}$  is a polarizer for each of the parameterizing functionals.

Let  $B_{\ell_T}$  be the antisymmetric bilinear form  $B_{\ell_T}(X, V) = \ell_T([X, V])$ . We will use  $B_{\ell_T}^Y$  to denote the matrix for  $B_{\ell_T}$  in the original strong Malcev basis. In this case  $B_{\ell_T}^Y$  is the 10x10 matrix

$$B_{\ell_T}^Y = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b_{\ell_T}^Y \end{bmatrix}$$

where  $b_{\ell_T}^Y$  is the 4x4 matrix

$$b_{\ell_T}^Y = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\ell_1 & \ell_4 & \ell_6 \\ \ell_1 & 0 & \ell_3 & \ell_5 \\ -\ell_4 & -\ell_3 & 0 & -\ell_2 \\ -\ell_6 & -\ell_5 & \ell_2 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Suppose that there were one polarizer m for all of the parameterizing functionals. Let  $W = \{W_1, \ldots, W_{10}\}$  be a weak Malcev basis for  $f_{4,2}$  passing through m. Let  $B_{\ell_T}^W$  be the matrix for  $B_{\ell_T}$  in this new basis. Again  $B_{\ell_T}^W$  has the form

$$B_{\boldsymbol{\ell}_T}^{\boldsymbol{W}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b_{\boldsymbol{\ell}_T}^{\boldsymbol{W}} \end{bmatrix}.$$

In this case, since the basis W passes through the 8-dimensional polarizer m, the matrix  $b_{\ell_T}^W$  contains a 2x2 submatrix of zeroes in the upper left corner. That is

$$B_{\ell_T}^W = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & p_{1,3}(\ell_T) & p_{1,4}(\ell_T) \\ 0 & 0 & p_{2,3}(\ell_T) & p_{2,4}(\ell_T) \\ -p_{1,3}(\ell_T) & -p_{2,3}(\ell_T) & 0 & p_{3,4}(\ell_T) \\ -p_{1,4}(\ell_T) & -p_{2,4}(\ell_T) & -p_{3,4}(\ell_T) & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

where  $p_{i,j}$  is polynomial in  $\ell_T$ . Let A be the change of basis matrix taking the original strong Malcev basis to the weak Malcev basis  $W(by hypothesis A is independent of <math>\ell_T$ ). So the  $i^{th}$  row of A contains the coefficients of the vector  $W_i$ 

in terms of the original strong Malcev basis. Then  $A^T B_{\ell_T}^Y A = B_{\ell_T}^W$ . The first 6 vectors in the new basis W are central, so we may as well assume that they are the original central vectors from the strong Malcev basis. That is to say that A can be represented as

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} I_6 & 0\\ 0 & A' \end{bmatrix}$$

where  $A' = (a_{i,j})_{i,j=1}^4$  is a 4x4 matrix, with rank 4, such that  $A'^T b_{\ell_T}^Y A' = b_{\ell_T}^W$ . Writing out the multiplication we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} a_{1,1} & a_{2,1} & a_{3,1} & a_{4,1} \\ a_{1,2} & a_{2,2} & a_{3,2} & a_{4,2} \\ a_{1,3} & a_{2,3} & a_{3,3} & a_{4,3} \\ a_{1,4} & a_{2,4} & a_{3,4} & a_{4,4} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\ell_1 & \ell_4 & \ell_6 \\ \ell_1 & 0 & \ell_3 & \ell_5 \\ -\ell_4 & -\ell_3 & 0 & -\ell_2 \\ -\ell_6 & -\ell_5 & \ell_2 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1,1} & a_{1,2} & a_{1,3} & a_{1,4} \\ a_{2,1} & a_{2,2} & a_{2,3} & a_{2,4} \\ a_{3,1} & a_{3,2} & a_{3,3} & a_{3,4} \\ a_{4,1} & a_{4,2} & a_{4,3} & a_{4,4} \end{bmatrix} = \\ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & p_{1,3}(\ell_T) & p_{1,4}(\ell_T) \\ 0 & 0 & p_{2,3}(\ell_T) & p_{2,4}(\ell_T) \\ -p_{1,3}(\ell_T) & -p_{2,4}(\ell_T) & -p_{3,4}(\ell_T) & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Consider the equation that produces the 0 in the (1,2) entry of the matrix  $b_{\ell_T}^W$ . Computing the corresponding entry from  $A'^T b_{\ell_T}^Y A'$  shows that we must have

$$\ell_1(-a_{1,1}a_{2,2} + a_{2,1}a_{1,1}) + \ell_2(-a_{3,1}a_{4,2} + a_{4,1}a_{3,2}) + \ell_3(a_{2,1}a_{3,2} - a_{3,1}a_{2,2}) + \ell_4(a_{1,1}a_{3,2} - a_{3,1}a_{1,2}) + \ell_5(a_{2,1}a_{4,2} - a_{4,1}a_{2,2}) + \ell_6(a_{1,1}a_{4,2} - a_{4,1}a_{1,2}) = 0.$$

Here is where we can use the fact that we assumed m was a fixed polarizer for all of the parameterizing  $\ell_T$ . First the coefficients  $a_{i,j}$  are independent of  $\ell_T$  as we have already stated. Since the above equation must hold for all of the parameterizing  $\ell_T$ , we get 6 independent equations

$$\begin{array}{ll} -a_{1,1}a_{2,2}+a_{2,1}a_{1,1}=0 & -a_{3,1}a_{4,2}+a_{4,1}a_{3,2}=0 & a_{2,1}a_{3,2}-a_{3,1}a_{2,2}=0 \\ a_{1,1}a_{3,2}-a_{3,1}a_{1,2}=0 & a_{2,1}a_{4,2}-a_{4,1}a_{2,2}=0 & a_{1,1}a_{4,2}-a_{4,1}a_{1,2}=0. \end{array}$$

Notice that these are the determinants of all of the 4x4 minors of the matrix

$$\begin{bmatrix} a_{1,1} & a_{1,2} \\ a_{2,1} & a_{2,2} \\ a_{3,1} & a_{3,2} \\ a_{4,1} & a_{4,2} \end{bmatrix}$$

which contradicts the fact that the matrix A' must have rank 4.

### 5.2 Laurent series for matrix coefficients

Since any choice of polarizers for the parameterizing functionals must rotate, we will use the vectors  $\{Z_1, \ldots, Z_6, Y_1, Y_3 + \frac{\ell_4}{\ell_1}Y_2\}$  as an almost strong Malcev basis for our rotating family of polarizers  $m_{\ell_T}$ , and we will use exponential coordinates. The vectors  $\{Y_2, Y_4\}$  will serve as a basis for our cross-section.

We are going to calculate the action of representations in this basis, and the matrix coefficients. We will see that the matrix coefficients will not be entire, but they will have Laurent expansions. We are going to investigate what happens when some of the coefficients in the Laurent expansion of these matrix coefficients are zero, and we will state and prove a weak analogue of the Szasz-Müntz theorem for this case. Let

$$x = exp(\alpha_1 Z_1) \cdots exp(\alpha_6 Z_6) exp(\alpha_7 Y_1) \cdots exp(\alpha_{10} Y_4)$$
$$y = exp(\beta_1 Y_2) exp(\beta_2 Y_4).$$

Then for parameterizing  $\ell_T$  and  $f \in L^2(\Re^2)$ , Theorem 3.3.1 reduces in this example to

$$\pi_{\ell_T}(x)f(y) = e^{2\pi i \left(\ell_1\left(\alpha_1+\alpha_7\beta_1\right)+\ell_2\left(\alpha_2+\alpha_9\beta_2\right)+\ell_3\left(\alpha_3+\alpha_9\left(\alpha_8+\beta_1-\frac{\ell_4}{2\ell_1}\alpha_9\right)\right)\right)}$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.
$$\cdot e^{2\pi i \left(\ell_4 \alpha_4 + \ell_5 \left(\alpha_5 - \alpha_8 \beta_2\right) + \ell_6 \left(\alpha_6 - \alpha_7 \beta_2\right)\right)}$$
  
 
$$\cdot f(\alpha_8 + \beta_1 - \frac{\ell_4}{\ell_1} \alpha_9, \alpha_{10} + \beta_2).$$

For a function  $\varphi$  on the group, let

$$\tilde{\varphi}(\alpha) = \tilde{\varphi}(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{10}) = \varphi(exp(\alpha_1 Z_1) \cdots exp(\alpha_6 Z_6) exp(\alpha_7 Y_1) \cdots exp(\alpha_{10} Y_4))$$

For  $\varphi \in L^1(F_{4,2}) \bigcap L^2(F_{4,2})$  and  $f, g \in L^2(\Re^2)$  we have

$$\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_T) = \langle \pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)f,g \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\Re^{10}} \int_{\Re^2} \tilde{\varphi}(\alpha) (\pi_{\ell_T}(\alpha)f)(\beta)\bar{g}(\beta)d\beta d\alpha$$

$$= \int_{\Re^{12}} e^{2\pi i \left(\ell_1 \left(\alpha_1 + \alpha_7 \beta_1\right) + \ell_2 \left(\alpha_2 + \alpha_9 \beta_2\right) + \ell_3 \left(\alpha_3 + \alpha_9 \left(\alpha_8 + \beta_1 - \frac{\ell_4}{2\ell_1} \alpha_9\right)\right)\right)}$$

$$\cdot e^{2\pi i \left(\ell_4 \alpha_4 + \ell_5 \left(\alpha_5 - \alpha_8 \beta_2\right) + \ell_6 \left(\alpha_6 - \alpha_7 \beta_2\right)\right)}$$

$$\cdot \tilde{\varphi}(\alpha)f(\alpha_8 + \beta_1 - \frac{\ell_4}{\ell_1} \alpha_9, \alpha_{10} + \beta_2)\bar{g}(\beta)d\beta d\alpha.$$
(1)

If we assume that  $\varphi, g$  have compact support and that f has an entire extension to complex 2-space we can show that the matrix coefficient  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_T)$  is holomorphic in the region  $\{\ell_T \in \mathbf{C}^6 | \ell_1 \neq 0\}$ . Before we prove this we give a name to the  $L^2(\Re^n)$ functions that have an entire extension to complex n-space.

Definition 5.2.1. Let

$$L^2_H(\Re^n) = \{f \in L^2(\Re^n) | f \text{ has an entire extension to } \mathbf{C^n}\}$$

**Remark.**  $L_{H}^{2}(\Re^{n})$  includes the Paley-Wiener class of functions: functions that are Fourier transforms of compactly supported  $L^{2}$  functions.

Lemma 5.2.2 If  $\tilde{\varphi} \in L^2_c(\Re^{10})$ ,  $g \in L^2_c(\Re^2)$ , and  $f \in L^2_H(\Re^2)$  then  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_T)$  has a holomorphic extension to  $\mathbf{C}_0 = \{\ell_T \in \mathbf{C}^6 | \ell_1 \neq 0\}.$ 

**Proof.** It suffices to prove that the function is holomorphic in the indicated region in each variable separately. To do this we will use Morera's theorem. Let

$$\psi(\alpha,\beta) = \bar{\varphi}(\alpha)\bar{g}(\beta) \in L^2_c(\Re^{12}) \subset L^1_c(\Re^{12})$$

and

$$h(\ell_T, \alpha, \beta) = e^{2\pi i \left(\ell_1 \left(\alpha_1 + \alpha_7 \beta_1\right) + \ell_2 \left(\alpha_2 + \alpha_9 \beta_2\right) + \ell_3 \left(\alpha_3 + \alpha_9 \left(\alpha_8 + \beta_1 - \frac{\ell_4}{2\ell_1} \alpha_9\right)\right)\right)} \cdot e^{2\pi i \left(\ell_4 \alpha_4 + \ell_5 \left(\alpha_5 - \alpha_8 \beta_2\right) + \ell_6 \left(\alpha_6 - \alpha_7 \beta_2\right)\right)} \cdot f(\alpha_8 + \beta_1 - \frac{\ell_4}{\ell_1} \alpha_9, \alpha_{10} + \beta_2)$$

so that  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_T) = \int_{\Re^{12}} h(\ell_T, \alpha, \beta) \psi(\alpha, \beta) d\alpha d\beta$ . Notice that for each fixed  $\alpha, \beta$  the function  $h(\alpha, \beta, \cdot)$  is holomorphic in the region  $\mathbf{C}_0$ . Also notice that for each fixed  $\ell_T, h(\cdot, \cdot, \ell_T)$  is continuous in  $\alpha, \beta$ . In particular  $h(\cdot, \cdot, \ell_T)$  is bounded on the support of  $\psi$ . Let  $\gamma_i$  be a simple closed curve in the  $i^{th}$  coordinate plane. For  $\gamma_0$  assume that the origin is not on nor in the interior of this curve. Finally let  $\gamma = \gamma_1 \times \ldots \times \gamma_6$ . By the Cauchy integral formula  $\int_{\gamma} h(\alpha, \beta, \ell_T) d\ell_T = 0$  for each  $\alpha, \beta$  so that

$$\int_{\gamma} \hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_T) d\ell_T = \int_{\gamma} \int_{\Re^{12}} h(\ell_T, \alpha, \beta) \psi(\alpha, \beta) d\alpha d\beta d\ell_T$$

$$= \int_{\Re^{12}} \int_{\gamma} h(\ell_T, \alpha, \beta) \psi(\alpha, \beta) d\ell_T d\alpha d\beta$$
$$= 0$$

Here we have made use of the fact that a function in several variables is holomorphic if and only if it is holomorphic in each variable separately. The main point in the proof of the lemma is ensuring that the Fubini argument will work.  $\Box$ 

To get a (weak) Szasz-Müntz theorem for this group we look at the coefficients in the Laurent expansion of the matrix coefficient  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}$  about zero:

$$\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_T) = \langle \pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)f,g \rangle = \sum_{j_1=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{j_2=0}^{\infty} \dots \sum_{j_6=0}^{\infty} c_{j_1,\dots,j_6}^{f,g} \ell_1^{j_1} \dots \ell_6^{j_6}.$$

What we want to know is how many of these coefficients must be zero for all such f, g before we can say that  $\varphi$  must be zero. These coefficients are going to involve partial derivatives in the  $\ell_2, \ldots, \ell_6$  directions. These derivatives are complicated by the appearance of the  $\ell_4$  term in several places.

Let  $C_1, \ldots, C_6$  be six circles about the origin, one in each coordinate complex plane. Since  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}$  is entire in  $\ell_2, \ldots, \ell_6$  the coefficient  $c_{n_1,\ldots,n_6}^{f,g}$  is given by the formula:

$$c_{n_{1},\dots,n_{6}}^{f,g} = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{6}} \int_{C_{1}} \int_{C_{2}} \cdots \int_{C_{6}} \frac{1}{\ell_{1}^{n_{1}+1} \cdots \ell_{6}^{n_{6}+1}} \hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_{1},\dots,\ell_{6}) d\ell_{6} \dots d\ell_{1}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{n_{2}! \cdots n_{6}!} \int_{C_{1}} \frac{1}{\ell_{1}^{n_{1}+1}} D_{2}^{n_{2}} \cdots D_{6}^{n_{6}} \hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_{1},0,\dots,0) d\ell_{1}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{n_{2}! \cdots n_{6}!} \int_{C_{1}} \frac{1}{\ell_{1}^{n_{1}+1}} \hat{\Phi}_{f,g}^{(n_{2},\dots,n_{6})}(\ell_{1},0,\dots,0) d\ell_{1}$$

66

where  $D_i$  is the partial differential operator in the  $i^{th}$  coordinate and

$$D_2^{n_2}\cdots D_6^{n_6}\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_1,\ldots,\ell_6)=\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}^{(n_2,\ldots,n_6)}(\ell_1,\ldots,\ell_6).$$

We will use of a modified equation (1) to compute these coefficients. In equation (1) make the following change of variables:

$$a_{1} = \alpha_{1} + \alpha_{7}\beta_{1} \qquad a_{5} = \alpha_{5} - \alpha_{8}\beta_{2}$$

$$a_{2} = \alpha_{2} + \alpha_{9}\beta_{2} \qquad a_{6} = \alpha_{6} - \alpha_{7}\beta_{2}$$

$$a_{3} = \alpha_{3} + \alpha_{9}(\alpha_{8} + \beta_{1}) \qquad a_{i} = \alpha_{i}, i \ge 7, i = 4$$

Then

$$\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}(\ell_T) = \int_{\Re^{12}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^6 \ell_i a_i - \frac{\ell_3 \ell_4 a_g^2}{2\ell_1}\right)} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f(a_8 + \beta_1 - \frac{\ell_4}{2\ell_1} a_9, a_{10} + \beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da \quad (2)$$

where p is the polynomial change of variables outlined above:

$$p_{i}(a,\beta) = a_{i}, \quad i \ge 7, i = 4 \qquad p_{3}(a,\beta) = a_{3} - \alpha_{9}(\alpha_{8} + \beta_{1})$$

$$p_{6}(a,\beta) = a_{6} + a_{7}\beta_{2} \qquad p_{2}(a,\beta) = a_{2} - a_{9}\beta_{2}$$

$$p_{5}(a,\beta) = a_{5} + a_{8}\beta_{2} \qquad p_{1}(a,\beta) = a_{1} - \alpha_{7}\beta_{1}.$$

Now we are ready to compute  $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}^{(n_2,\ldots,n_6)}(\ell_1,0,\ldots,0)$ . From (2) we see that, by passing differentiation through the integral

$$\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}^{(n_2,n_5,n_6)}(\ell_1,\ldots,\ell_6)$$

$$= (2\pi i)^{n_2+n_5+n_6} \int_{\Re^{12}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^6 \ell_i a_i - \frac{\ell_3 \ell_4 a_9^2}{2\ell_1}\right)} a_2^{n_2} a_5^{n_5} a_6^{n_6} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta))$$

$$f(a_8 + \beta_1 - \frac{\ell_4}{2\ell_1} a_9, a_{10} + \beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da.$$

In the 
$$\ell_3$$
 direction, notice that the coefficient on  $\ell_3$  in the complex exponential  
is  $a_3 - \frac{\ell_4 a_9^2}{2\ell_1}$ . So  
 $\hat{\Phi}_{f,g}^{(n_2,n_3,n_5,n_6)}(\ell_1,\ldots,\ell_6)$   
 $= (2\pi i)^{n_2+n_3+n_5+n_6} \int\limits_{\mathfrak{R}^{12}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^6 \ell_i a_i - \frac{\ell_3 \ell_4 a_9^2}{2\ell_1}\right)} a_2^{n_2}(a_3 - \frac{\ell_4 a_9^2}{2\ell_1})^{n_3} a_5^{n_5} a_6^{n_6} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta))$   
 $f(a_8 + \beta_1 - \frac{\ell_4}{2\ell_1} a_9, a_{10} + \beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da.$  (3)

The derivative in the  $\ell_4$  direction is complicated by the appearance of this term in three places. Because of this we use the rule for the derivative of a product of three functions:

$$(\psi\eta\lambda)^{(n)} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \sum_{j=0}^{j} \binom{n}{k} \binom{k}{j} \psi^{(n-k)} \eta^{(k-j)} \lambda^{j}.$$

This formula applied to (3) with  $n = n_4$  and

$$\psi(\ell_4) = e^{2\pi i \ell_4 (a_4 - \frac{\ell_3 a_9^2}{2\ell_1})}, \eta(\ell_4) = (a_3 - \frac{\ell_4 a_9^2}{2\ell_1})^{n_3}, \lambda(\ell_4) = f(a_8 + \beta_1 - \frac{\ell_4}{2\ell_1}a_9, a_{10} + \beta_2)$$

yields:

$$\begin{split} \hat{\Phi}_{f,g}^{(n_2,n_3,n_4,n_5,n_6)}(\ell_1,\ldots,\ell_6) \\ &= \sum_{k_4=0}^{n_4} \sum_{j_4=0}^{k_4} (2\pi i)^{n_2+\ldots+n_6-k_4} \binom{n_4}{k_4} \binom{k_4}{j_4} \int\limits_{\Re^{12}} e^{2\pi i \left(\sum_{j=1}^6 \ell_i a_i - \frac{\ell_5 \ell_4 a_9^2}{2\ell_1}\right)} a_2^{n_2} \cdot \\ &\qquad (a_3 - \frac{\ell_4 a_9^2}{2\ell_1})^{n_3 - j_4} (\frac{-a_9^2}{2\ell_1})^{j_4} (a_4 - \frac{\ell_3 a_9^2}{2\ell_1})^{n_4 - k_4} a_5^{n_6} a_6^{n_6} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) \cdot \\ &\qquad f^{(k_4 - j_4)}(a_8 + \beta_1 - \frac{\ell_4}{2\ell_1} a_9, a_{10} + \beta_2) (\frac{-a_9}{\ell_1})^{k_4 - j_4} \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da \end{split}$$

where  $f^{(n)}$  is the  $n^{th}$  partial derivative of f in the first variable.

To compute the coefficients we need the derivatives at the points  $(\ell_1, 0, \ldots, 0)$ :

where  $d(n_2, \ldots, n_6) = (2\pi i)^{n_2 + \ldots + n_6 - k_4} {n_4 \choose k_4} {k_4 \choose j_4} \frac{1}{2^{j_4}} (-1)^{k_4}$ . So

$$\begin{aligned} c_{n_{1},...,n_{6}}^{f,g} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{n_{2}! \cdots n_{6}!} \int_{\mathbf{C}_{1}} \frac{1}{\ell_{1}^{n_{1}+1}} \hat{\Phi}_{f,g}^{(n_{2},...,n_{6})}(\ell_{1},0,\ldots,0) d\ell_{1} \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{1}{n_{2}! \cdots n_{6}!} \int_{\mathbf{C}_{1}} \frac{1}{\ell_{1}^{n_{1}+1}} \left( \sum_{k_{4}=0}^{n_{4}} \sum_{j_{4}=0}^{k_{4}} d(n_{2},\ldots,n_{6}) \int_{\mathbf{R}^{12}} e^{2\pi i \ell_{1} a_{1}} (\frac{1}{\ell_{1}})^{k_{4}} a_{2}^{n_{2}} a_{3}^{n_{3}-j_{4}} a_{4}^{n_{4}-k_{4}} a_{5}^{n_{5}} \cdot a_{6}^{n_{6}} a_{9}^{k_{4}+j_{4}} \bar{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f^{(k_{4}-j_{4})}(a_{8}+\beta_{1},a_{10}+\beta_{2}) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da \right) d\ell_{1} \\ &= \frac{1}{n_{2}! \cdots n_{6}!} \sum_{k_{4}=0}^{n_{4}} \sum_{j_{4}=0}^{k_{4}} d(n_{2},\ldots,n_{6}) \int_{\mathbf{R}^{12}} \left( \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbf{C}_{1}} \frac{1}{\ell_{1}^{n_{1}+1}} e^{2\pi i \ell_{1} a_{1}} (\frac{1}{\ell_{1}})^{k_{4}} d\ell_{1} \right) \cdot a_{2}^{n_{2}} a_{3}^{n_{3}-j_{4}} a_{4}^{n_{4}-k_{4}} a_{5}^{n_{5}} a_{6}^{n_{6}} a_{9}^{k_{4}+j_{4}} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) \cdot f^{(k_{4}-j_{4})}(a_{8}+\beta_{1},a_{10}+\beta_{2}) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da. \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_1} \frac{1}{\ell_1^{n_1+1}} e^{2\pi i \ell_1 a_1} (\frac{1}{\ell_1})^{k_4} d\ell_1$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_1} \frac{1}{\ell_1^{n_1+k_4+1}} e^{2\pi i \ell_1 a_1} d\ell_1$$

is the  $n_1 + k_4$  coefficient in the Laurent expansion (note that  $n_1$  can be negative) of the function

$$e^{2\pi i \ell_1 a_1} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2\pi i a_1)^j}{j!} \ell_1^j.$$

Therefore

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_1} \frac{1}{\ell_1^{n_1+k_4+1}} e^{2\pi i \ell_1 a_1} d\ell_1 = \begin{cases} \frac{(2\pi i a_1)^{n_1+k_4}}{(n_1+k_4)!} & \text{if } n_1+k_4 \ge 0; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

If we combine this with (4) we have

$$c_{n_{1},...,n_{6}}^{f,g} = \frac{1}{n_{2}!\cdots n_{6}!} \sum_{k_{4}=0}^{n_{4}} \sum_{j_{4}=0}^{k_{4}} d(n_{2},...,n_{6}) \int_{\mathfrak{R}^{12}} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{1}} \frac{1}{\ell_{1}^{n_{1}+1}} e^{2\pi i \ell_{1}a_{1}} (-\frac{1}{\ell_{1}})^{k_{4}} d\ell_{1}\right) \cdot a_{2}^{n_{2}} a_{3}^{n_{3}-j_{4}} a_{4}^{n_{4}-k_{4}} a_{5}^{n_{5}} a_{6}^{n_{6}} a_{9}^{k_{4}+j_{4}} \cdot \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f^{(k_{4}-j_{4})}(a_{8}+\beta_{1},a_{10}+\beta_{2}) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da$$
$$= \sum_{k_{4}=0}^{n_{4}} \sum_{j_{4}=0}^{k_{4}} d(n,k_{4}) \int_{\mathfrak{R}^{12}} a_{1}^{n_{1}+k_{4}} a_{2}^{n_{2}} a_{3}^{n_{3}-j_{4}} a_{4}^{n_{4}-k_{4}} a_{5}^{n_{5}} a_{6}^{n_{6}} a_{9}^{k_{4}+j_{4}} \cdot \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f^{(k_{4}-j_{4})}(a_{8}+\beta_{1},a_{10}+\beta_{2}) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da$$
(5)

where

$$d(n,k_4) = \begin{cases} \frac{(2\pi i)^{n_1+k_4}}{n_2!\cdots n_6!(n_1+k_4)!}d(n_2,\ldots,n_6) & \text{if } n_1+k_4 \ge 0;\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

---

# 5.3 A Szasz-Müntz theorem for $F_{4,2}$

Now that we have calculated the coefficients  $c_{n_1,\ldots,n_6}^{f,g}$  we will state a weak Szasz-Müntz theorem for the matrix coefficients on  $F_{4,2}$ . The theorem is Szasz-Müntz in nature because will not require all of the coefficients in the Laurent series to vanish in order to show that  $\varphi$  vanishes. On the other hand the theorem is not as strong as a full Szasz-Müntz theorem because we do require that for Szasz-Müntz sequences  $n_1, n_2, n_3, n_5, n_6$  and for each pair f, g the coefficient  $c_{n_1,\ldots,n_6}^{f,g}$  vanish for all  $n_4$ , instead of a Szasz-Müntz sequence  $n_4$ .

It is interesting to note that although  $n_1$  can assume negative values, we do not use these. We will only consider a positive Szasz-Müntz sequence  $n_1$ .

Theorem 5.3.1 Let  $\varphi \in L^2_c(\mathfrak{G}), g \in L^2_c(\mathfrak{R}^2), f \in L^2_H(\mathfrak{R}^2)$  and for each integer  $n_1$  and positive integers  $n_2, \ldots, n_6$  let  $c^{f,g}_{n_1,\ldots,n_6}$  be the  $(n_1,\ldots,n_6)$  coefficient in the Laurent expansion for the matrix coefficient  $\langle \pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)f,g \rangle$ . Let each variable  $n_1, n_2, n_3, n_5, n_6$  vary over a Szasz-Müntz sequence, while  $n_4$  varies over N. If  $c^{f,g}_{n_1,\ldots,n_6} = 0$  for all such  $n_1,\ldots,n_6$  and for all the specified f,g then  $\varphi = 0$ .

**Proof.** We are going to proceed by induction on  $n_4$ . In fact we will show that for every  $n_4$ 

$$0=\int\limits_{\Re}\alpha_4^{n_4}\varphi(\alpha)d\alpha_4$$

for  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_3, \alpha_5, \ldots, \alpha_{10}$  almost everywhere, which proves the theorem.

We would like to be able to use one of the Euclidean Szasz-Müntz theorems. In order to do that we need to know that  $\tilde{\varphi}(\alpha,\beta)g(\beta)$  is compactly supported. Claim.  $\psi(\alpha,\beta) = \tilde{\varphi}(p(\alpha,\beta))g(\beta)$  is compactly supported on  $\Re^{12}$ .

**Proof.** By the definition of the change of variables p,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\varphi}(p(\alpha,\beta))g(\beta) \\ = \tilde{\varphi}(\alpha_1 - \alpha_7\beta_1, \alpha_2 - \alpha_9\beta_2, \alpha_3 - \alpha_9(\alpha_8 + \beta_1), \alpha_4, \alpha_5 + \alpha_8\beta_2, \alpha_6 + \alpha_7\beta_2, \alpha_8, \alpha_9, \alpha_{10})g(\beta). \end{split}$$

The compact support of g guarantees the compact support of  $\beta$ . The compact support of  $\varphi$  guarantees the compact support of  $\alpha_{10}, \ldots, \alpha_7$  and  $\alpha_4$ . In the other variables we have a translation by a polynomial which is defined on a compact set, and hence is bounded. This guarantees the compact support of the other variables  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3, \alpha_5, \alpha_6$ .

Now we proceed with the proof of the theorem. Start with the case  $n_4 = 0$ . By (5)

$$0 = \int_{\Re^{12}} a_1^{n_1} a_2^{n_2} a_3^{n_3} a_5^{n_5} a_6^{n_6} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f(a_8 + \beta_1, a_{10} + \beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da$$
  
= 
$$\int_{\Re^{12}} a_1^{n_1} a_2^{n_2} a_3^{n_3} a_5^{n_5} a_6^{n_6} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f(a_8 + \beta_1, a_{10} + \beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) dad\beta$$

for Szasz-Müntz sequences  $n_1, n_2, n_3, n_5, n_6$  and for all of the specified f, g. Fubini is justified here since  $\tilde{\varphi}(p)g$  has compact support in  $L^2$ , and hence  $a_1^{n_1}a_2^{n_2}a_3^{n_3}a_5^{n_5}a_6^{n_6}$ .  $\tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta))\bar{g}(\beta)$  is  $L^1$ . Since this integral is zero for every  $g \in L^2_c(\Re^2)$ , for almost every  $\beta$  we have

$$0 = \int_{\Re^{10}} a_1^{n_1} a_2^{n_2} a_3^{n_3} a_5^{n_5} a_6^{n_6} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f(a_8 + \beta_1, a_{10} + \beta_2) da.$$

Since the class  $L^2_H(\Re^2)$  contains the Paley-Wiener class, it is dense in  $L^2(\Re^2)$ . Therefore for almost every  $a_8, a_{10}, \beta$ 

$$0 = \int_{\Re^{6}} a_{1}^{n_{1}} a_{2}^{n_{2}} a_{3}^{n_{3}} a_{5}^{n_{5}} a_{6}^{n_{6}} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) da_{1} \dots da_{7} da_{9}.$$

By the Szasz-Müntz theorem 2.4, applied to the sequences  $n_1, n_2, n_3, n_5, n_6$  we have

$$0 = \int_{\Re^3} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) da_4 da_7 da_9 \tag{6}$$

for almost every  $a_1, a_2, a_3, a_5, a_6, a_8, a_{10}, \beta$ .

At this point it becomes clear that the variable  $a_7$  is going to be hard to handle. Notice that in formula for the coefficients  $c_{n_1,\ldots,n_6}^{f,g}$  the only place that  $a_7$  appears is in  $\varphi$ . In other words we don't have a monomial in  $a_7$  to help us 'eliminate' this variable. It is here that the change of variables p comes to the rescue. Really we are integrating over surfaces that are parameterized by  $\beta_1, \beta_2$ . To take advantage of this we take a Fourier transform in several of the variables of (6).

More specifically for almost every  $x_1, x_2, x_3, x_6$  we have:

$$0 = \int_{\Re^7} e^{2\pi i (x_1 a_1 + x_2 a_2 + x_3 a_3 + x_6 a_6)} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) da_1 da_2 da_3 da_4 da_6 da_7 da_9.$$

Now undo the change of variables p in the  $a_1, a_2, a_5, a_6$  directions and partially in  $a_3$ . We take

$$lpha_1 = a_1 - a_7 eta_1$$
  $lpha_5 = a_5 + a_8 eta_2$   
 $lpha_2 = a_2 - a_9 eta_2$   $lpha_6 = a_6 + a_7 eta_2$   
 $lpha_3 = a_3 + a_9 eta_1$   $lpha_i = a_i$ , otherwise.

Then

for almost every  $x_1, x_2, x_3, x_6, \alpha_5, \alpha_8, \alpha_{10}, \beta$ .

Here  $\hat{\varphi}_{(\alpha_5,\alpha_8,\alpha_{10})}$  is the Euclidean Fourier transform of the function

$$\varphi_{(\alpha_5,\alpha_8,\alpha_{10})}(\alpha) = \int_{\Re} \tilde{\varphi}(\alpha_1,\alpha_2,\alpha_3+\alpha_9\alpha_8,\alpha_4,\ldots,\alpha_{10})d\alpha_4.$$

On a set of full measure in  $\Re^4$  the matrix

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_1 & -x_6 \\ x_3 & x_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

has a nonzero determinant. On this set of full measure

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_1 & -x_6 \\ x_3 & x_2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \beta_1 \\ \beta_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

has a solution for any  $y_1, y_2$ . Combined with what we know from above we have

$$0 = \hat{\varphi}_{(\alpha_5, \alpha_8, \alpha_{10})}(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_6, y_1, y_2)$$

for almost every  $x_1, x_2, x_3, x_6, \alpha_5, \alpha_8, \alpha_{10}, y$ . Therefore

$$0 = \varphi_{(\alpha_5,\alpha_8,\alpha_{10})}(\alpha_1,\alpha_2,\alpha_3,\alpha_6,\alpha_7,\alpha_9)$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

----

for almost every  $s_1, s_2, s_3, s_6, \alpha_5, \alpha_8, \alpha_{10}, t$ . From the definition of  $\varphi_{(\alpha_5, \alpha_8, \alpha_{10})}$  we can conclude that for almost every  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{10}$ 

$$0=\int\limits_{\Re}\tilde{\varphi}(\alpha)d\alpha_4.$$

Let's sum up what we have done here as a lemma:

Lemma 5.3.2. For  $\varphi \in L^2_c(\mathfrak{G})$ , if

$$\int_{\Re^{12}} a_1^{n_1} a_2^{n_2} a_3^{n_3} a_5^{n_6} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f(a_8 + \beta_1, a_{10} + \beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da = 0$$

for every  $g \in L^2_c(\Re^2), f \in L^2_H(\Re^2)$  and for  $n_1, n_2, n_3, n_5, n_6$  members of five Szasz-Müntz sequences then

$$0 = \int_{\Re} \tilde{\varphi}(\alpha) d\alpha_4 = \int_{\Re} \tilde{\varphi}(p(\alpha,\beta)) d\alpha_4$$

for  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_3, \alpha_5, \ldots, \alpha_{10}, \beta$  almost everywhere.

Remark. Notice that we cannot do any better than this, since we have only used  $n_4 = 0$ .

**Proof.** All that remains to show is that

$$0 = \int_{\Re} \varphi(p(\alpha,\beta)) d\alpha_4$$

for  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_3, \alpha_5, \ldots, \alpha_{10}, \beta$  almost everywhere.

This follows since  $p(\alpha_4) = \alpha_4$ .

Remark. Lemma 5.3.2 is related to Radon transforms. We started with

$$0=\int\limits_{\vec{\mathbf{x}}^3}\tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta))da_4da_7da_9$$

for almost every  $a_1, a_2, a_3, a_5, a_6, a_8, a_{10}, \beta$ 

It turns that the change of variables p means we are integrating over surfaces that depend on  $\beta$ . We are able to use this to reduce this integral to an integral over  $\Re$ .

To finish the proof of Theorem 5.3.1 we will use induction on  $n_4$  and Lemma 5.3.2. Now consider the case  $n_4 = 1$ . Then

By Lemma 5.3.2 we know that

$$0 = \int_{\Re} \varphi(\alpha) d\alpha_4 = \int_{\Re} \varphi(p(a,\beta)) da_4$$

for almost every  $a_1, \ldots, a_3, a_5, \ldots, a_{10}, \beta$ . Therefore

$$0 = \sum_{j_4=0}^{1} d(n,1) \int_{\Re^{12}} a_1^{n_1+k_4} a_2^{n_2} a_3^{n_3-j_4} a_5^{n_5} a_6^{n_6} a_9^{1+j_4} \cdot \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f^{(1-j_4)}(a_8+\beta_1,a_{10}+\beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da$$

for every f, g. We conclude that

$$0 = \int_{\Re^{12}} a_1^{n_1} a_2^{n_2} a_3^{n_3} a_4 a_5^{n_5} a_6^{n_6} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f(a_8 + \beta_1, a_{10} + \beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da$$

for every f, g and for  $n_1, n_2, n_3, n_5, n_6$  terms in a Szasz-Müntz sequence.

Now we may apply Lemma 5.3.2 to the function  $\psi(a) = a_4 \tilde{\varphi}(a)$ , since  $\psi(p(a,\beta))$ =  $a_4 \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta))$ . We can conclude that

$$0=\int\limits_{\Re}\alpha_4\tilde{\varphi}(\alpha,\beta)d\alpha_4.$$

For the induction step we may assume that  $0 = \int_{\Re} \alpha_4^j \varphi(\alpha) d\alpha_4$  for every  $j < n_4$ , and we must prove this for  $n_4$ . By the assumption of the theorem

$$0 = \sum_{k_4=0}^{n_4} \sum_{j_4=0}^{k_4} d(n, k_4) \int_{\Re^{12}} a_1^{n_1+k_4} a_2^{n_2} a_3^{n_3-j_4} a_4^{n_4-k_4} a_5^{n_5} a_6^{n_6} a_9^{k_4+j_4} \cdot \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f^{(k_4-j_4)}(a_8+\beta_1, a_{10}+\beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da.$$
(7)

By the induction hypothesis if  $n_4 - k_4 < n_4$  then

$$0 = \int_{\Re^{12}} a_1^{n_1+k_4} a_2^{n_2} a_3^{n_3-j_4} a_4^{n_4-k_4} a_5^{n_5} a_6^{n_6} a_9^{k_4+j_4} \cdot \\ \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f^{(k_4-j_4)}(a_8+\beta_1, a_{10}+\beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da$$

for every f, g and for  $n_1, n_2, n_3, n_5, n_6$  terms in a Szasz-Müntz sequence. Therefore we must have  $k_4 = 0$ . Combine this with (7) to see that

$$0 = \int_{\Re^{12}} a_1^{n_1} a_2^{n_2} a_3^{n_3} a_4^{n_4} a_5^{n_5} a_6^{n_6} \tilde{\varphi}(p(a,\beta)) f(a_8 + \beta_1, a_{10} + \beta_2) \bar{g}(\beta) d\beta da$$

for every f, g and for  $n_1, n_2, n_3, n_5, n_6$  terms in a Szasz-Müntz sequence.

77

Now apply Lemma 5.3.2 to this integral to see that

$$0=\int\limits_{\Re}\alpha_4^{n_4}\varphi(\alpha)d\alpha_4$$

for  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3, \alpha_5, \ldots, \alpha_{10}$  almost everywhere.

Remark. We will show in the next chapter that in groups with representations that are square integrable mod the center the trace transform (times the Pfaffian) has an entire extension to the complexified dual and satisfies a weak Szasz-Müntz theorem. It's interesting to note the seemingly different behavior between these two transforms, especially since the trace transform can be expressed as a sum (albeit infinite) of matrix coefficients.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

## **CHAPTER 6**

# THE TRACE TRANSFORM

Now that we have considered the operator valued transform and its matrix coefficients in detail we want to turn our attention to the trace transform. We want to prove a Szasz-Müntz type theorem for the trace transform on groups that have flat orbits and a fixed radical for all of the parameterizing representations (this includes the groups that have square integrable representations mod the center [5]).

Let  $\mathfrak{G}$  be the nilpotent Lie group under consideration, and  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G})$ . The trace transform of  $\varphi$  is defined in terms of the operator valued transform

$$Tr \pi_{\ell}(\varphi) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\langle \pi_{\ell}(\varphi)\xi_n, \xi_n \right\rangle.$$

It turns out that as in Euclidean space the trace transform has nicer properties when suitably normalized. So we will consider not the trace transform but the absolute value of the Pfaffian times the trace transform,

$$\hat{\varphi}_{Tr}(\ell) = |Pf(\ell)| Tr \pi_{\ell}(\varphi).$$

Generally the trace transform does not have an entire extension to the complexified dual space, even when  $\varphi$  has compact support [3]. But when the group is as specified above the transform  $\hat{\varphi}_{Tr}(\ell)$  will have entire extension, if  $\varphi$  is compactly supported, and in fact it will satisfy a Szasz-Müntz theorem.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

The proof centers around the parameterizing map  $\psi$  for the collection of generic orbits:

$$\psi: \left(U \bigcap V_T\right) imes V_S 
ightarrow U$$

is the map defined by the condition that  $\psi(\ell_T, \ell_S)$  is the unique point in the orbit  $O_{\ell_T}$  such that  $p_S(\psi(\ell_T, \ell_S)) = \ell_S$ , where  $p_S : \mathfrak{g}^* \to V_S$  is projection. Here  $V_T = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_{t_i}^* | t_i \in T\}, V_S = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_{s_i}^* | s_i \in S\}$ 

Let  $\varphi_0 = \varphi \circ exp$ . It is known then that

$$Tr\pi_{\boldsymbol{\ell}_T}(\varphi) = \frac{1}{|Pf(\boldsymbol{\ell}_T)|} \int_{V_S} \hat{\varphi_0}(\psi(\boldsymbol{\ell}_T, \boldsymbol{\ell}_S)) d\boldsymbol{\ell}_S$$

or

$$\hat{\varphi}_{Tr}(\ell_T) = \int\limits_{V_S} \hat{\varphi_o}(\psi(\ell_T,\ell_S)) d\ell_S,$$

where  $d\ell_S$  is normalized Lebesgue measure on the Euclidean space  $V_S$ .

Consider a group where the the orbits for the generic functionals are flat, and there is one fixed radical for all the parameterizing functionals  $\ell_T$ . So for each  $\ell_T$ ,  $r_{\ell_T} = r$  is an ideal and  $O_{\ell_T} = \ell + r^{\perp}$  (where  $\mathfrak{h}^{\perp} = \{\ell \in \mathfrak{g}^* | \ell(\mathfrak{h}) = 0\}$ ). Since r is an ideal we may take a strong Malcev basis  $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$  passing through r.

Therefore  $r = \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_{t_i} | t_i \in T\}$ , since  $t_i$  is a non-jump index if and only if there is a vector  $Y_{t_i} \in \Re - \operatorname{span}\{X_1, \dots, X_{t_i-1}\}$  such that  $X_{t_i} + Y_{t_i} \in r$ . In particular for parameterizing  $\ell_T$  we have  $O_{\ell_T} = \ell_T + r^{\perp} = \ell_T + V_S$ . So the parameterizing map  $\psi(\ell_T, \ell_S)$  is the map  $\psi(\ell_T, \ell_S) = \ell_T + \ell_S$ . We have

$$\begin{split} \hat{\varphi}_{Tr}(\ell_T) &= \int_{V_S} \hat{\varphi}_0(\psi(\ell_T, \ell_S)) d\ell_S \\ &= \int_{V_S} \hat{\varphi}_0(\ell_T + \ell_S) d\ell_S \\ &= \varphi_0(x_{t_1}, \dots, x_{t_r}, 0, \dots, 0) (\ell_T). \end{split}$$

In this case the trace transform turns out to be a partial Fourier transform in the radical variables.

Unfortunately the trace transform can vanish on a set of positive measure in  $U \bigcap V_T$  while  $\varphi \neq 0$ . So there is no hope of proving a full fledged Szasz-Müntz theorem as we did for the matrix coefficients. However we can prove the following variations.

**Theorem 6.1** If  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G})$  and compactly supported on r then  $\hat{\varphi}_{Tr}(\ell) : V_T \to \mathbf{C}$ has entire extension to  $V_T^{\mathbf{C}}$  and satisfies a Szasz-Müntz theorem. In particular if  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r$  are Szasz-Müntz sequences,  $\ell_T$  is a fixed parameterizing functional, and

$$\frac{\partial^{\mu_1(k_1)+\ldots+\mu_r(k_r)}}{\partial \ell_{t_1}^{\mu_1(k_1)}\cdots \partial \ell_{t_r}^{\mu_r(k_r)}}\hat{\varphi}_{T_r}(\ell_T)=0$$

for every  $k_1, \ldots, k_n \in \mathbb{N}^n$  then  $\hat{\varphi}_{T_r}(\ell_T) = 0$ .

**Proof.** The theorem follows from the above arguments and the Euclidean Szasz-Müntz theorem, Theorem 2.6.  $\hfill \Box$  **Theorem 6.2** If  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G})$  then  $(\widehat{\varphi^* * \varphi})_{T_r}(\ell) : V_T \to \mathbf{C}$  has entire extension to  $V_T^{\mathbf{C}}$  and satisfies a Szasz-Müntz theorem. In particular if  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r$  are Szasz-Müntz sequences,  $\ell_T$  is a fixed parameterizing functional, and

$$\frac{\partial^{\mu_1(k_1)+\ldots+\mu_r(k_r)}}{\partial \ell_{t_1}^{\mu_1(k_1)}\cdots \partial \ell_{t_r}^{\mu_r(k_r)}} (\widehat{\varphi^* * \varphi})_{T_r}(\ell_T) = 0$$

for every  $k_1, \ldots, k_n \in \mathbb{N}^n$  then  $\varphi = 0$ .

**Proof.** If  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathfrak{G})$  then so  $\varphi^* * \varphi$ . The above theorem shows that

$$Tr\pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi^* * \varphi) = \|\pi_{\ell_T}(\varphi)\|_{H-S}^2 = 0$$

for all parameterizing  $\ell_T$ . The Plancherel theorem for nilpotent Lie groups now shows that  $\varphi$  vanishes. 

#### REFERENCES

- Moss, J.D., Jr., A Paley-Wiener theorem for selected nilpotent Lie groups., J. Funct. Anal. 114, no.2 (1993), 395-411.
- [2] Park, Robert, A Paley-Wiener theorem for all two and three-step nilpotent Lie groups., J. Funct. Anal. 133, no.2 (1995), 277-300.
- [3] Lipsman, Ronald L.; Rosenberg, Jonathan, The behavior of Fourier transforms for nilpotent Lie groups, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. Volume 348, no.3, March (1996), 1031-1050.
- [4] Borwein, Peter; Erdélyi, Tamás, Müntz spaces and Remez inequalities, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.(N.S.) 32, no.1 (1995), 38-42.
- [5] Wolf, Joseph A.; Moore, Calvin C., Square integrable representations of nilpotent groups., Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 185 (1973), 445-462.
- [6] Vergne, M., Construction de sous-algèbres subordonées à un élément du dual d'une algèbre de Lie résoluble, C.R. Acad. Sci.(Paris) A-B270, A173-175, A704-707 (1970), pp. 30,37.
- [7] Corwin, Lawrence J.; Greenleaf, Frederick P., Representations of nilpotent Lie groups and their applications, (Cambridge University Press), New York, 1990.
- [8] Dym, H.; McKean, H.P., Fourier Series and Integrals, (Academic Press), San Diego, 1972.
- [9] Zimmer, Robert J., Essential Results in Functional Analysis, (University of Chicago Press), Chicago, 1990.
- [10] Hörmander, Lars, The analysis of Partial Differential Operators I, (Springer-Verlag), Berlin Heidelberg, 1990.
- [11] Gruenberg, Karl; Weir A.J., Linear Geometry, (D. Von Nostrand Co., Inc.), Princeton, 1967.

## VITA

The author was born in Oswego, New York, on June 6, 1968. He attended High School at Altmar-Parish-Williamstown High School in Parish, New York, and graduated in 1986. He received a bachelor of arts degree in mathematics and computer science at the State University of New York College at Postdam in 1990. At the same time he received the master of arts degree in mathematics. He started the doctoral program in mathematics in August of 1991. He will be graduated with a doctorate of philosophy in mathematics from Louisiana State University on August  $1^{st}$ , 1996. The author is married and has one child Kevin Andrew.

### DOCTORAL EXAMINATION AND DISSERTATION REPORT

Candidate:

Darwyn C. Cook

Major Field: Mathematics

Title of Dissertation: Szasz-Muntz Theorems for Nilpotent Lie Groups

Approved:

ofessor and Chairman Graduate School Dea he

EXAMINING COMMITTEE:

Robert Perlio tenere the bad

K. Keliz

Date of Examination:

June 27, 1996